**Scientific Review Report** 



Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing NICNAS

# Review of 2007–09 literature

on toxicological and health-effects relating to six nanomaterials



# Review of 2007–09 literature on toxicological and health-effects relating to six nanomaterials

Report prepared by Professor Brian G. Priestly, Director Australian Centre for Human Health Risk Assessment (ACHHRA) Monash University School of Medicine, Nursing and Health Sciences

30 October 2009

© Commonwealth of Australia 2011

This work is copyright. You may download, display, print and reproduce this material in unaltered form only (retaining this notice) for your personal, non-commercial use or use within your organisation. Apart from any use as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, all other rights are reserved. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to Commonwealth Copyright Administration, Attorney General's Department, National Circuit, Barton ACT 2600 or posted at http://www.ag.gov.au/cca

# Preface

### What this review is about

NICNAS commissioned this technical consultancy to review and analyse available literature from 2007-2009 on six industrial nanomaterials, chosen as they were considered to already be in, or close to, commercial use in Australia. The aim of this review was to identify any available scientific evidence of important toxicological/health effects that had not been covered by the scope of previous reviews and therefore supplement currently available scientific information on these substances.

#### Scope of the review

The consultant was asked to draw out knowledge of toxicological/health information of: fullerenes, carbon nanotubes and nanoforms of zinc oxide, titanium dioxide, cerium oxide and silver. To build technical knowledge and avoid unnecessary duplication specific 'data gaps', not covered in previous reviews, were identified and addressed in the consultancy (depending on the availability of published papers).

In addition, any other toxicity/health related information on the six nanomaterials that were not captured in the previous reviews was also expected to be included in the report.

### **Conduct of the review**

This consultancy was carried out in three phases, a comprehensive literature search to collect articles available on each data gap identified by NICNAS<sup>1</sup>, analysis of the literature on findings in relation to data gaps and compilation of the report based on these findings.

### Use of the review

This review will be one source of information used by NICNAS in determining the risks posed by the use of these substances in Australia. NICNAS continues to monitor and keep up to date on scientific research papers on these nanomaterials as they are published, work that will provide the basis for future risk assessments on these materials, as new information arises, contributing to the key NICNAS strategic direction in relation to industrial nanomaterials - to protect human health and the environment through appropriate regulation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See *Section 12.2* of this report for more information.

# Contents

Contents	6
Glossary of abbreviations used	8
Executive summary	9
1. Review methodology and scope	11
2. General reviews and commentaries	14
2.1 Definitional and mechanistic aspects	15
2.2 Dose-response metrics	16
2.3 Tracking and characterising NPs	16
2.4 Towards a more refined toxicity testing approach	17
3. Chronic inhalational toxicity studies	19
3.1 Studies with ZnO	19
3.2 Studies with TiO <sub>2</sub>	19
3.3 Studies with CeO	20
3.4 Studies with CNTs	20
3.4.1 Ninety-day rat study	20
3.4.2 Thirty- and 60-day mouse studies	21
3.4.3 Fourteen-day mouse study	21
3.5 Studies with fullerenes	21
3.6 Studies with nanosilver	21
3.6.1 Two-week inhalational toxicity study in mice	21
3.6.2 Thirteen-week inhalational toxicity study in mice	22
4. In vivo and in vitro toxicity studies	23
4.1 Studies with metal oxides	23
4.1.1 In vivo studies	23
4.1.2 In vitro studies	24
4.1.3 Photogenotoxicity	24
4.2 Studies with CeO	25
4.2.1 HRA for CeO	25
4.3 Studies with CNTs	26
4.3.1 <i>In vivo</i> studies	26
4.3.2 In vitro studies	27
4.4 Studies with fullerenes	27
4.4.1 <i>In vivo</i> studies	27
4.4.2 In vitro studies	28
4.5 Studies with nanositver	28
5. Studies of NP genotoxicity	30
5.1 Studies with ZnO and TiO <sub>2</sub>	30
5.2 Studies with CeO	30
5.3 Studies with CNTs	31

5.4 Studies with fullerenes	31
5.4.1 Studies with fullerenes and other NPS	31
6. Dermal absorption and skin penetration	32
6.1 Metal oxides (ZnO and TiO <sub>2</sub> )	32
6.2 CeO	33
6.3 CNTs	33
6.4 Fullerenes	33
6.5 Nanosilver	33
7. Worker exposure studies	34
7.1 TiO <sub>2</sub>	34
7.2 CNTs	35
7.3 Nanosilver	35
7.4 Chinese workers	35
8. Special issues relating to carbon nanotubes	36
8.1 Mesothelioma potential	36
8.1.1 Two-year rat study	36
8.1.2 Rat peritoneal mesothelioma study	36
8.2 Neurotoxicity	37
8.3 Other studies	37
9. Special issues relating to metal oxides	38
9.1 Neurotoxicity	38
9.1.1 In vivo studies	38
9.1.2 In vitro studies	38
9.2 Cardiovascular toxicity	39
10. Special issues relating to nanosilver	40
10.1 Neurotoxicity	40
11. Other special issues	41
11.1 Effects of NP size and surface modification	41
11.2 Structure-activity relationships (SAR)	41
12. Conclusions and remaining gaps in information	43
12.1 Additional data gaps and further knowledge requirements	45
12.2 Data gaps identified by NICNAS	45
13. References	48

# Glossary of abbreviations used

AAS	Atomic absorption spectrometry
ACGIH	American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists
BET	Brunauer-Emmett-Teller (algorithm describing surface area of NPs)
СВ	carbon black
СНО	Chinese Hamster Ovary cells
CeO	cerium oxide
CNS	central nervous system (incorporating the brain and spinal column)
ENPs	engineered nanoparticles
Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	iron oxide (a common contaminant in manufactured CNTs)
HRA	health risk assessment
ICON	International Council on Nanotechnology
IP	the intraperitoneal injection route of administration
IV	the intravenous route of administration
LOAEC/L	Lowest Observable Adverse Effect Concentration/Level
MDA	malondialdehyde (a product used to measure lipid peroxidation)
MWCNTs	multi-walled carbon nanotubes
NOAEL	No Observable Adverse Effect Level
NICNAS	National Industrial Chemicals Notification & Assessment Scheme
NMs	nanomaterials
NPs	nanoparticles or nanoparticulates
OHS	occupational health and safety
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PM10	dust and other airborne particulates with a size $\leq$ 10 micrometers
PVA	polyvinyl alcohol
SA	Surface area
SC	the subcutaneous route of administration
SEM	scanning electron microscopy
SWCNTs	single-walled carbon nanotubes
ROS	reactive oxygen species
STIM	Scanning Transmission Ion Microscopy
TEM	transmission electron microscopy
TiO <sub>2</sub>	titanium dioxide
TLV	threshold limit value
UF	ultrafine (also UFPs ultrafine particles)
UV	ultraviolet (subclassified UVA and UVB according to wavelength)

# **Executive summary**

The literature on the potential applications of the nanotechnologies is expanding at a tremendous rate. This report focuses of literature which specifically relates to health and safety assessments of six nanomaterials (NMs – mainly as nanoparticulates, or NPs) specified to be of interest to NICNAS (zinc oxide, titanium dioxide, cerium oxide, carbon nanotubes, fullerenes and nanosilver). It complements other literature reviews which have been done in recent years by focussing only on papers published from late 2007 to September 2009 which have not been covered in these previous reviews.

Several reviews have been published during the 20 month period covered by this report, as well as a large number of experimental studies. The literature search identified some 264 relevant papers, most of which have been discussed in this report. In addition to summarising individual reports and information relating to the toxicity of the six NMs, attempts were made to assess the extent to which the literature informs health risk assessment (HRA) and broader issues of occupational health and safety (OHS) assessment. In this context, the report does address the plethora of *in vitro* studies with the six NMs, but these probably do not contribute substantially to informing HRA or OHS assessment. The limitations of *in vitro* testing were well discussed in the Toxikos review, and this report supports those views, and suggests that their utility may be limited to characterising cellular mechanisms associated with inducing toxicity, and possibly showing how modification of nanoparticle (NP) size and surface structure may influence relative cytotoxicity. The innate, medium-dependent tendency of NPs to aggregate in air and in biological media can result in changes in size and surface area which may further confound the interpretation of both *in vivo* and *in vitro* toxicity studies.

Some special features of NP-induced toxicity have been singled out for more detailed analysis in this report. These are:

- The extent to which repeated-dose vs. single dose and/or *in vitro* studies can contribute useful information to undertake a HRA; including the role of tests for genotoxicity to reveal carcinogenic potential, as opposed to being simple markers of the induced formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS)
- How likely is it that fibrous NMs (e.g. single- and multi-walled carbon nanotubes) can reproduce the adverse health effects of asbestos fibres; specifically, the mesothelioma risk associated with exposure to CNTs
- Whether there is new information about the extent to which NPs can be absorbed across unbroken skin (there is already substantial evidence that NPs penetrate broken skin more readily)
- Whether some NPs represent a specific risk of neurotoxicity under conditions where they can actually reach the brain, or whether NP exposure can result in cardiovascular toxicity, given the known potential for ultrafine air pollution to contribute to human cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, and
- Knowledge gaps which might help to inform HRA, and in particular, whether advances in knowledge of the effects of surface modification, or other structure-activity relationships, or application of genomic techniques, might fill some of these gaps.

In relation to each of the above dot points, the literature over the past 20 months has offered some advances in knowledge, although there remain substantial gaps. The main areas of advancement have been in relation to *in vitro* mechanistic studies and sub-chronic inhalational toxicity studies in rodents, which have demonstrated:

- Biopersistance (long-term retention of NPs in target tissues) is a factor quite critical in determining whether NPs penetrate cells and are retained long enough to provide the continuing inflammatory signals and other biological stimuli which lead to pathological changes.
- Most biopersistent NPs induce adverse cellular oxidative stress events dependent on reactive oxygen species, but that initiation of apoptosis can be a further factor inducing cell necrosis. Furthermore, biological signals indicative of apoptosis can occur at dose levels lower than those producing frank cytotoxicity. This in turn suggests that cellular antioxidant mechanisms are partially protective against cytotoxicity.
- Modification of surface activity (particularly that leading to solubilization of otherwise hydrophobic NPs) modifies the toxicity potential of NPs. However, as yet, there is no clear pattern of structure activity relationships (SAR) which would permit predictability of NP toxicity
- Formal HRA is still hampered by a lack of useful chronic exposure studies, especially those which clearly demonstrate dose-response relationships, or provide for clear NOAELs. An innovative approach to HRA was demonstrated in a case study relating exposure to CeO NPs used as a diesel fuel additive and comparing estimated human lung internal doses with *in vitro* toxicity data, and
- Characterization of NPs administered in either *in vitro* or *in vivo* experimental studies remains critical to the interpretation of the outcomes. Most studies now report the characteristics of the NPs they use, including the critical surface area in terms of Brunauer-Emmett-Teller values (an algorithm describing surface area of NPs).

# 1. Review methodology and scope

The literature on the potential applications of the nanotechnologies is expanding at a tremendous rate. Indeed, Ostrowski *et al*  $(2009)^1$ , in reviewing just the nanotoxicology literature for the period 2000-07, estimated that the peer reviewed literature had expanded by around 600%, with publications spanning at least 58 different journals. The distribution of articles by route of administration in Figs 3 and 4 from that review indicate that the inhalational route in mammalian species predominates over other routes of exposure, but the number of papers where the exposure route is not specified is also large. Some of these may be *in vitro* studies.



The range of materials being developed for use at the nanoscale is also increasing. These nanomaterials may, or may not, have distinctly different properties compared to the same chemicals presented at other than nanoscale, and these different properties may influence the health and environmental risks they pose during different lifecycle stages – from manufacture through to disposal.

This review focuses only the potential health effects and risk management associated with six nanomaterials, specified by NICNAS to be of particular interest in an Australian context. These six nanomaterials are:

zinc oxide (ZnO)	titanium dioxide (TiO <sub>2</sub> )
cerium oxide (CeO)	carbon nanotubes (CNTs)
fullerenes (C60)	nanosilver

It is intended that this review will complement other recent (2006-09) reviews of relevant nanomaterials and several other reviews which preceded them. The reviews specifically identified by NICNAS as being complementary and therefore out of scope for the current review are:

- A Review of the Toxicology and Health Hazards Associated With Engineered Nanomaterials – a 2008 report prepared by Toxikos Pty Ltd for Safework Australia (draft dated 10 December 2008 provided to me)
- Evidence on the effectiveness of workplace controls to prevent exposure to engineered nanomaterials – a 2008 report prepared by RMIT University for the Department of Education, Employment & Workplace Relations (DEEWR)
- A review of the scientific literature on the safety of nanoparticulate titanium dioxide or zinc oxide in sunscreens – a 2006 report prepared by the Therapeutic Goods Administration
- EMERGNANO: A review of completed and near completed environmental health and safety research on nanomaterials and nanotechnology – a 2009 report prepared by the Institute of Occupational Medicine (IOM) for the UK Department of the Environment Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), and
- Examining the British Safety Institute Guide on Safe Handling & Disposal of Manufactured Nanomaterials – a report under preparation by the Monash Centre for Occupational & Environmental Health (MonCOEH) for the Department of Education, Employment & Workplace Relations (DEEWR).

This means that the present review represents only a snapshot of relevant literature over a roughly 20 month period, from late 2007 to September 2009. It does not purport to be a comprehensive summary of all known facts about the health and safety of nanomaterials, since it deliberately avoids considering papers which were cited in the above reviews, and which generally surveyed the toxicological literature up to the middle of 2008 or more recent OHS-related literature.

An important objective of this current review is to summarise new information which has come to light since the publication of the previous reviews, and to identify where significant gaps in knowledge may remain.

The literature search was undertaken primarily using standard databases (e.g. PubMed) using the following search terms:

nanotoxicology	nanoparticle + toxicity
nanoparticle + health effects	nanoparticle + risk assessment
nano zinc oxide	nano cerium oxide
nano titanium dioxide	fullerenes
carbon nanotubes	nanosilver

A significant source for many citations was the International Council on Nanotechnology (ICON) database on recent research (<u>http://icon.rice.edu/virtualjournal.cfm</u>) and the EMERGNANO database on research. In addition, recent issues of key journals were surveyed to find papers which may not have been picked up yet in the above databases. These key journals were:

Nanotoxicology	J. Nanoparticle Res
Nature – nano	Particle & Fibre Toxicol
Nanomedicine	Env. Sci. Technol.
Toxicol. Sci.	J. Toxicol Sci
Inhalational. Tox.	J Nanosci. Nanotech.

The bibliography for the review had a publication cut-off date of 13 September 2009. While the searches and databases originally yielded several hundred references, these were narrowed down to the 264 papers which this reviewer considered to be relevant for the project and which were referred to NICNAS. Of these, NICNAS prioritised 48 papers as requiring special attention. This review report ultimately cites only 204 of the more relevant papers from the bibliography. The cited papers are arranged in numerical order of their citation.

# 2. General reviews and commentaries

Many reviews and commentaries outlining the current status of health and safety assessment of NMs have been published in the past 20 months<sup>2-21</sup>. Some focus more on occupational exposure as the most significant source of NM exposure<sup>22-28</sup>, while others comment on potential health effects of deliberately administered nanomedicines<sup>29-33</sup>, the safety of specific types of NMs (e.g. CNT toxicity<sup>34-38</sup>, and nanosilver toxicity<sup>39-41</sup>), nanomaterials used in food production<sup>42</sup>, the development of regulatory regimes<sup>43-47</sup>, membrane transport and skin absorption<sup>48-50</sup>, and community perceptions of risks<sup>51-52</sup>.

Genaidy *et al* (2009)<sup>53</sup> used a meta-analysis approach to review the toxicity literature on CNTs, and graded the studies (from very poor to excellent) in terms of their methodology, result reporting and utility in defining risk characteristics. They concluded that, while studies generally defined a potential for cytotoxicity, few studies reach a level of quality which could be useful for putting research findings into practical risk management.

Tervonen *et al* (2009)<sup>54</sup> proposed a risk-based classification system for NPs to assist their regulatory assessment. The proposed classification system is based on a multi-criteria decision making approach which uses performance metrics that measure both the toxicity and physico-chemical characteristics of the original materials, as well as the expected environmental impacts through the product life cycle. The performance metrics were: particle size, bioavailability, bioaccumulation, toxicity potential, agglomeration, reactivity/surface charge and the presence of critical functional groups. Some of these could be expressed quantitatively, while others required subjective assignment of ordinal scores using expert judgement.

Mailander & Landfester (2009)<sup>55</sup> reviewed the mechanisms by which NPs interact with cell membranes. A significant finding in their review was that cellular uptake is not only influenced by NP size, but that surface modification (positively or negatively charged side groups, or adsorption of amino acids, peptides and proteins) is an important factor in enhancing cellular uptake. Elder *et al*, 2009<sup>48</sup> also reviewed the surface and size characteristics of NPs which influence their ability to penetrate cell membranes (including layers of the skin) and commented that skin is a fairly solid barrier to the passage of most types of NPs. However, prolonged exposures over time may result in small amounts reaching immune-competent cells or the microcirculation.

Nel *et al* (2009)<sup>56</sup> reviewed the biophysical interactions which can occur at the interface between NPs and biological systems. They detailed the nature of forces which influence binding of proteins and other ligands and the potential impacts of these interactions on NP solubility, membrane transport and imaging possibilities. The review includes table and diagrams which illustrate how such surface modifications have modified NP toxicity. The authors speculate that better understanding of such interactions may enable better prediction of NP behaviour and toxicity, and to fulfil the aim of "safer-by-design".

Simeonova & Erdely (2009)<sup>57</sup> picked up on the fact that UF air pollutants are known to be epidemiologically linked to cardiovascular diseases and that similar toxicity may be associated with ENPs. They reviewed the range of inflammatory cell markers released after inhalational exposure to a variety of NPs, and their possible utility as biomarkers of cardiovascular toxicity, along with genomic techniques to identify changes in gene expression patterns. While iron NPs were not one of the specified NMs to be covered in this review, a study by Apopa *et al* (2009)<sup>58</sup> showed that one of the effects of such NPs

was the ROS-dependent increase in the permeability of human microvascular cells. This suggests a potential mechanism for other NPs to influence cardiovascular toxicity. Other studies on cardiovascular toxicity of NMs specified for this report are summarised in Section 9.2.

### 2.1 Definitional and mechanistic aspects

The working definition of nanomaterials emphasises that the dimensions of at least one plane of the NP should be between 1 and 100 nanometres. CNTs fall within such a definition on the basis of diameter, even though their length may exceed this figure manyfold.

It is also axiomatic that the very small NP size, along with their surface characteristics and different surface activity, confer unique properties on NMs, as compared to materials of the same chemical composition, but of larger size. This paradigm drives the call for a separate HRA process for NMs, since it presumes that these unique characteristics of NPs may translate into enhanced or unusual toxicological properties.

While there is an ongoing international debate on whether the 100 nm size boundary should be extended to 200 or even 300 nm, a contrary view has been put forward. Auffan *et al* (2009)<sup>59</sup> propose that novel size-dependent properties should be a more important determinant than simply NP dimensions alone, and that, at least in regard to metallic oxide NPs, only those with a size <20-30 nm are likely to have a sufficiently different toxicity profile to warrant a separate HRA. This is based on an assumption that only NPs <20-30 nm have a substantial proportion of their molecules on the surface and give rise to different crystallinity and thermodynamic properties. Auffan *et al* (2009)<sup>60</sup> further postulated that chemically stable metal oxide NPs would have little or no cytotoxic potential, while those which are able to be oxidized, reduced or solubilised are more likely to be cytotoxic or genotoxic. This is partly due to the propensity for surface catalytic and redox effects to favour the generation of ROS.

Several reviews<sup>15,61-65</sup> have addressed the mechanisms of cytotoxicity associated with NPs, including the ability of NPs to generate ROS, induce inflammatory responses, initiate apoptosis and have direct effects on cell membranes. Most of these findings are extrapolated from *in vitro* studies using cell cultures of different types, but including many where human cell types have been used. Other reviews<sup>30,66</sup> address the potential for enhanced NP cytotoxicity to combine with enhanced delivery to target sites. The potential genotoxicity of NPs has also been extensively canvassed in review articles<sup>67,68</sup>, as well as studies on individual NPs (see section 5).

Cytotoxicity mechanisms independent of ROS-mediated effects have been explored for several NPs. An important finding by Frohlich *et al* (2009)<sup>69</sup> was that some types of NPs (they used polystyrene NPs) could generate cytotoxicity by mechanisms involving apoptosis and/or effects on cell membranes and cell proliferation, at exposure levels lower than those required for ROS generation. Some of the NMs of concern to NICNAS also seem to be able to induce apoptosis as a critical pathway leading to cell necrosis (see Section 4).

Given the rapid advancements being made in the genomic techniques in toxicity assessment (toxicogenomics, proteonomics), it is perhaps surprising that a genomic approach has not been advocated to a greater extent in addressing problems in nanotoxicology. Haniu *et al* (2009)<sup>70</sup> have used such an approach, and while there remain

many difficulties in interpreting the outcomes of such studies, they found that proteonomic techniques were uniquely sensitive to carbon black NPs, with some proteins associated with metabolism, response to stress, signal transduction and cell differentiation being turned in human monoblastic leukaemia cells at quite low exposure levels. See also Section 3.2.1 for a mouse inhalational study with nanosilver, and Section 3.2 for a mouse intratracheal instillation study with TiO<sub>2</sub>, where the toxic outcomes were assessed using a microarray genomic technique. Erdely *et al* (2009)<sup>71</sup> have referred to the utility of genomic assays demonstrating activation or alteration of key genes and proteins as possible biomarkers.

Another approach has been the use of a genetically modified mouse model to enhance sensitivity to toxicity. Jacobsen *et al* (2009)<sup>72</sup> describe the differential toxicity of five different NPs (CB, fullerenes, SWCNTs, gold and quantum dots) after intratracheal instillation in apolipoprotein knockout mice (ApoE-/-) and normal C57 mice.

Vesterdal *et al* (2009)<sup>73</sup> also used apolipoprotein knockout mice (ApoE-/-) to show that the extent of atherosclerosis in aging ApoE-/-mice influenced vascular responsiveness to fullerenes. Acetylcholine-induced endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation of isolated aortic strips was inhibited to a greater extent in the younger mice, while the phenylephrine-induced vasoconstriction response was increased, 1 hr after IP injection of C60 (0.05 or 0.5 mg/kg).

### 2.2 Dose-response metrics

The most appropriate metric for constructing dose-response relationship has also been the subject of extensive discussion, both during the past 20 months and from the earliest papers on nanotoxicology. Sager *et al* (2008, 2009)<sup>74, 75</sup> have elaborated on the importance of using surface area as a dose metric, rather than mass, in some comparative studies of the intratracheal toxicity of fine and ultrafine CB in rats, compared to TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs. The transient inflammatory and cytotoxic responses seen after ultrafine CB installation were approximately 65 x greater than that seen after fine CB, when expressed on a mass basis. However, the differences were largely abolished when expressed on a surface area basis. The same group found similar findings when fine and ultrafine TiO<sub>2</sub> particles were administered by intratracheal instillation and the results expressed on a mass or SA basis. Comparison between UF CB and TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs showed that, when administered on a comparable SA basis, the inflammatory responses were similar on day 1 after dosing, but only the TiO<sub>2</sub> doses produced a prolonged inflammatory response.

### 2.3 Tracking and characterising NPs

One challenge which is common to many NPs is the difficulty, or impracticality, of developing analytical techniques which permit the tracing of NP distribution through cells and tissues after *in vivo* exposure. Gul *et al* (2009)<sup>76</sup> propose the use of a fluorescently labelled functionalised and physically stable (i.e. non-aggregating) NP of polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) to facilitate NP tracking in distribution and pharmacokinetic studies. They contend that the PVA NP cores are devoid of some of the troublesome aggregating and biomembrane interactive effects of commonly used latex NPs.

Cheng *et al* (2009)<sup>77</sup> describe an approach to visualisation of MWCNT penetration through cell membranes of human macrophages, using 3D-dark field scanning TEM, in conjunction with confocal microscopy and SEM. The important thing about this study, apart from the

novel visualisation technique, was that it was able to differentiate cytotoxicity associated with purified MWCNT and the Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> impurities which commonly persist in unpurified materials. Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> was not cytotoxic in these studies, while purified MWCNTs were cytotoxic. They also demonstrated that the oxidative stress which led to the cytotoxicity was due to partial piercing of the cell membrane by MWCNT fibres, with incomplete phagocytosis of the cells. On the other hand, Elgrabli *et a*l (2008)<sup>78</sup> showed that intratracheally-instilled MWCNTs are biopersistent in lung tissue for at least 6 months, but do not cross the pulmonary barrier.

The importance of characterising NPs used in experimental studies and occupational exposure scenarios has been emphasised time and time again. The importance of controlling, or at least considering, the effects of NP aggregation or agglomeration has been well reviewed by Pauluhn (2009)<sup>79</sup> who has also pointed out the importance of understanding the biopersistence of the administered NPs. NPs generally have an innate medium-dependent tendency to aggregate in air and in biological media, so that their size and surface characteristics can undergo significant change. Baveye & Laba (2008)<sup>80</sup> criticised a published inhalational toxicity study of TiO<sub>2</sub>, on the basis that the inhaled material appeared to be extensively clustered, while it was claimed to be dispersed. This was despite attempts made by the authors to ensure a dispersed suspension, using sonication in suitable solvents.

Elgrabli *et al* (2008)<sup>81</sup> noted disparate findings in some published toxicity studies where MWCNTs were administered by inhalation. Some unexpectedly failed to demonstrate pulmonary toxicity seen commonly after intratracheal instillation. They postulated that this may be due to lack of control over aggregation. When albumin solutions were used to minimise aggregation, they were able to demonstrate the expected profile of pulmonary toxicity.

The importance of controlling, or at least specifying, the dispersion medium in *in vitro* experiments has been well highlighted by Tabet *et al* (2009)<sup>82</sup> and is also discussed elsewhere in this report (section 11.1). Tabet *et al* found that MWCNTs formed agglomerates on the surface of human epithelial cell cultures, but that the agglomerates were much larger and more numerous in phosphate-buffered saline dispersion fluid, compared to fluids containing dipalmitoyl lecithin (a component of pulmonary surfactant) or ethanol. MWCNTs caused decreased cellular metabolic activity, similar for all dispersants, but there was no evidence of cellular internalisation or oxidative stress. In contrast, both CB and asbestos were internalised, but only asbestos produced expected toxic effects on cell metabolism and apoptosis.

### 2.4 Towards a more refined toxicity testing approach

A common theme in many of the review articles and commentaries which have been published over the past 20 months is that there remains much work to be done to develop appropriate *in vitro* and *in vivo* tests which could assist with human health risk assessment of NMs. Given the known limitations of *in vivo* tests which use exposure routes inappropriate for HRA (e.g. intratracheal installation; IP injection) and inhalational studies where the generation of respirable NP dispersions is influenced to a great extent by the choice of dispersion media or method of aerosol generation, there is a need for the development of a well-standardised test battery, preferably one formalised by international agreement (Warheit *et al* 2009<sup>83</sup>). The development of such a battery of useful *in vitro* 

tests has been reviewed in depth<sup>15, 84-87</sup> including consideration of the vast methodological difficulties.

Meng *et al* (2009)<sup>88</sup> have set this out quite explicitly, noting that the predictive efficacy of such a test battery will depend on choosing tests which consider how the physico-chemical characteristics of NPs could influence the cellular and molecular pathways which lead to pathogenic diseases.

Lu *et al* (2009)<sup>89</sup> evaluated the ability of a battery of *in vitro* tests to predict the inflammatory toxicity of a range of 13 metal oxide NPs. The exposure doses were equalized for surface area. They found that the relative potency to produce ROS *in vitro* did not correlate well with inflammogenic responses *in vivo*, with 4/13 inducing ROS but only one (NiO) producing a significant inflammatory response when instilled intratracheally in rats. In contrast, alumina NPs were inflammogenic, but produced little ROS.

Donaldson *et al* (2009)<sup>90</sup> pointed out that *in vivo* pathogenic responses to three different types of particulates (PM<sub>10</sub>, asbestos and quartz) result in a broad range of adverse health outcomes in the lungs and cardiovascular system, but their *in vitro* cytotoxicity, mediated by oxidative stress, is not so readily differentiated.

Walker & Bucher (2009)<sup>91</sup> reviewed the strategies for evaluating the health hazards of NMs in the context of recent developments in toxicity testing, under the US NRC "Toxicity Testing in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century" program. They pointed out that, while the new NRC approach emphasises the gradual replacement of *in vivo* toxicity tests with *in vitro* tests, genomic approaches and better understanding of mode of action and the use of information technology to describe patterns of toxic behaviour, these approaches may not be so fruitful to help unravel the complexities involved in predicting the toxicity of nanomaterials

It has also been proposed (Erderly *et al* 2009)<sup>71</sup> that information on the array of biological responses after NP administration may have utility in developing suitable *in vivo* biomarkers of toxic response. Those responses involving activation of cytokine pathways of immune system may be particularly useful.

# 3. Chronic inhalational toxicity studies

It is generally accepted that chronic exposure studies underpin the development of healthbased exposure standards. Where these are based on animal studies, they should be conducted using a route of exposure relevant to HRA. The inhalational route is the one considered most relevant to undertaking HRA for NPs in the occupational setting, although there is always some potential that dermal exposure may be relevant in some settings.

There have been relatively few inhalational toxicity studies done during the past 20 months using even multiple exposures, let alone chronic exposure, for any of the NMs of interest. Those that have come to light are discussed under the individual NMs of interest.

A more common study design for most NP inhalational toxicity studies is where the exposure is short term (sometime just a single dose), with observations of the time-dependence of the development of the toxic responses followed over periods up to 90 days.

Because of the significant interest generated by the studies by Poland *et al* (2008)<sup>92</sup> (reviewed by Toxikos) which demonstrated asbestos-like pathological effects of CNTs after IP injection, the potential for CNTs to mimic the adverse effects of chronic asbestos inhalational exposure is discussed in more detail in Section 8.1.

The issue of potential NP carcinogenicity has also been addressed in a review article by Roller  $(2009)^{93}$  who noted that although IARC found inadequate epidemiological evidence to classify CB and TiO<sub>2</sub> as carcinogenic, the potential for such biopersistent NPs to increase the risk of lung cancer in exposed workers should not be underestimated.

### 3.1 Studies with ZnO

No new repeat inhalational exposure studies with ZnO were identified during the 20 month period of interest for this review.

# 3.2 Studies with TiO<sub>2</sub>

Some significant inhalational toxicity studies done with TiO<sub>2</sub> have been published in the past 20 months.

Van Ravenzwaay *et al* (2009)<sup>94</sup> compared the uptake and systemic distribution of three types of particulates in mice after 5 days of 6/h day nose-only inhalation. The doses used were 100 mg/m<sup>3</sup> nanoscale TiO<sub>2</sub> (20-30 nm mixed anatase/rutile), 250 mg/m<sup>3</sup> pigmentary TiO<sub>2</sub> (200nm rutile) and 100 mg/m3 quartz dust (315 nm). The BET comparisons showed higher values for the TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs (48.6 m<sup>2</sup>/g) compared to the other two particulates (6 and 5.9 m<sup>2</sup>/g). Most of the inhaled TiO<sub>2</sub> was deposited in the lung, with some transference to mediastinal lymph nodes (pigmentary>nanoscale>quartz). In contrast, nano-TiO<sub>2</sub> injected intravenously accumulated mainly in the liver and spleen. The inhalational studies produced relatively mild neutrophilic inflammation and macrophage activation, which comparable for all three particulates. The lung changes were reversible for pigmentary and nanoscale TiO<sub>2</sub>, but progressive for quartz.

Ma-Hock *et a*l (2009)<sup>95</sup> proposed that shorter-term inhalational studies could predict toxicity which might occur with more chronic (e.g. 90-day) exposures. They exposed male rats (head-nose only) to respirable dusts containing  $TiO_2$  NPs (2, 10, 50 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) 6 h/day for 5 days, using a special dust generator designed to deliver disaggregated NPs (<3000nm). They demonstrated that adverse pulmonary effects (increased lung weight, inflammation, increased bronchial cell proliferation) were comparable to those reported in a similar 90-day exposure study using female F344 rats (Bermudez *et al* 2004 – reviewed by Toxikos), although lung  $TiO_2$  deposition was somewhat higher in the 90d study. More importantly, they demonstrated that the LOAEC (2 mg/m<sup>3</sup>), based on increased terminal bronchial cell proliferation, was the same in both the 90d and 5d studies.

Although it was not a chronic study, a paper by Park *et al* (2009)<sup>96</sup> is worth noting because of the use of genomic techniques to assess toxicity. They administered a single dose of  $TiO_2$  NPs by intratracheal instillation in mice (5, 20, 50 mg/kg). They demonstrated inflammatory pulmonary responses at day one, sustained for up to 14 days, with the dose-related induction of T-helper type cytokines. Using microarray genomic techniques, they also demonstrated the induction of multiple genes associated with antigen presentation and the induction of chemotaxis of immune cells.

# 3.3 Studies with CeO

No new repeat inhalational exposure studies with CeO were identified during the 20 month period of interest for this review. It seems unlikely that such studies have been done previously with this NP either.

# 3.4 Studies with CNTs

The only studies identified over the relevant 20 month period of this review were done to explore the repeated dose toxicity of MWCNTs. There were none identified which used SWCNTs.

#### 3.4.1 Ninety-day rat study

Ma-Hock *et al* (2009)<sup>97</sup> studied the toxicity of MWCNTs administered by head/nose-only inhalation of generated aerosols 6h/day, 5 d/wk over 90 days (total 65 exposures) at three dose levels (0, 0.1, 0.5 & 2.5 mg/m<sup>3</sup>). The study design was essentially that of OECD test guideline 413. It was claimed that the respirable material was generated from commercial MWCNTs using a proprietary brush generator which neither damaged the CNTs nor altered their ROS-generating surfaces. They used transmission electron microscopic (TEM) images to show that the MWCNTs were essentially the same in appearance before and after passing through the dust-generator, although scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images of material recovered from the test chambers suggested significant wool-like clumping had occurred, along with "hairy" surfaces on the CNTs.

The more important outcome of the study was that it revealed no systemic toxicity at any dose level, although the expected inflammatory lung toxicity was seen, characterised by increase lung weight, granulomatous inflammation, diffuse histiocytic and neutrophilic inflammation and intra-alveolar lipoproteinosis. The effects were dose-related, but since the lowest dose still showed minimal granulomatous inflammation, the study failed to demonstrate a clear NOAEL.

It is difficult to judge whether this study really contributes useful information for the HRA of MWCNTs or the development of exposure standards. The authors claimed that MWCNTs have low dust-forming potential and it is clear that they needed to extensively modify the MWCNT material in order to generate the respirable dusts.

#### 3.4.2 Thirty- and 60-day mouse studies

A 30- and 60-day inhalational exposure study with MWCNT in mice was reported by Li *et al* (2009)<sup>98</sup>. However, since the study was only available in abstract form, with few details of the experimental design other than the exposure regimen (6 hr exposure to 32.6 mg/m<sup>3</sup> every second day), it is difficult to conclude anything about the results, which were reported to be severe pulmonary toxicity after 60 days, but not after 30 days.

#### 3.4.3 Fourteen-day mouse study

Mitchell *et al* (2009)<sup>99</sup> studied the immunological responses in mice after exposure to MWCNTs in whole-body inhalation chambers. The dose rates were 0, 0.3 and 1 mg/m<sup>3</sup>, 6 hr per day for 14 consecutive days. Mice exposed at 1 mg/m<sup>3</sup> had suppressed immune function associated with splenic activation of cyclooxygenases. This effect was partially reversible by treatment with ibuprofen, and involved signalling proteins released from the lung. Knockout mice with no splenic cyclooxygenase function were resistant to the effects of MWCNTs and did not respond immunologically to MWCNTs. The NOAEL dose was 0.3 mg/m<sup>3</sup> in this experiment.

### 3.5 Studies with fullerenes

Fujita *et al* (2009)<sup>100</sup> studied gene profile expression in rat lung after whole-body inhalational exposures to fullerenes NP aerosols (0.12 mg/m<sup>3</sup>; 4.1 particles/cm<sup>3</sup>; 96 nm diameter) 6 h/day; 5 days/week; 4 weeks. UF NiO particles were used as a positive control.

C60 NPs were localised in alveolar epithelial cells and engulfed by macrophages. Only some genes associated with immune system responses were up-regulated. In contrast, NiO upregulated genes across a broad spectrum, including chemokines, oxidative stress, suggesting that the inflammatory response with NiO was greater than that with C60.

The conclusion drawn from this study was that fullerenes have a relatively low potential to produce pulmonary inflammatory responses after repeated inhalational exposure, in comparison to metal oxide NPs.

# 3.6 Studies with nanosilver

#### 3.6.1 Two-week inhalational toxicity study in mice

Lee *et al* (2009)<sup>101</sup> treated mice (n=7 per group) by nose-only inhalation 6 hr/day, 5 d/week for 2 weeks using silver NPs (1.91 particles/cm<sup>3</sup>) prepared in a particle generator. The nanosilver was well characterised. The experimental design was based on a previous rodent studies which proposed the olfactory bulb as an important pathway for nanosilver intake into the CNS, leading to significant neurological damage. Half the treated mice were tested at the conclusion of 2 weeks exposure, while the remainder were allowed a 2-week recovery period.

An Affymetrix Mouse Genome Array assay was used to identify genes which were expressed in different parts of the brain. A total of 486 genes in cerebrum and 952 genes in the cerebellum were identified as nanosilver responsive, with genes associated with neurodegenerative disease and immune function being the most sensitive. However, there was no evidence of any histopathological changes in the brains of the mice studied. PCR on blood indicated a correlation between gene activation and neurotoxicity. No data were presented indicating whether or not the brain gene expression results were reversible in the recovery group.

#### 3.6.2 Thirteen-week inhalational toxicity study in mice

Sung *et al* (2009)<sup>102</sup> exposed rats (n=10 per group) in whole-body inhalation chambers 6 hr/day, 5 d/week for 13 weeks using silver NPs (8-19 nm) at dose rates 0.6, 1.4 and 3 million particles/cm<sup>3</sup> (equivalent to 49, 133 and 515  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>). The toxicity target organs, consistent with measured silver deposition, were lungs and liver, with dose-related inflammatory cell infiltrates, chronic alveolar inflammation and small granulomatous lesions, and bile duct hyperplasia. While there was evidence of some dose-dependent silver accumulation in olfactory lobes, brain and kidneys, there was no apparent toxicity in these organs. The rounded estimate of the NOAEL established in this study was approximately 100  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, which the authors noted was comparable to an established ACGIH TLV of 0.1 mg/m3 for silver dust.

Hussain & Schlager (2009)<sup>103</sup> editorialised on the importance of the Sung *et al* study, noting that while the exposure conditions were probably much higher than those likely to be encountered in workplaces where airborne nanosilver exposure might occur, the study represents a first step towards developing a health-based occupational exposure standard for nanosilver.

# 4. In vivo and in vitro toxicity studies

Many *in vivo* toxicity studies continue to use a single dose design, although toxicity assessment may be followed over longer periods of time.

There continues to be a substantial effort put into *in vitro* tests (exposing cell cultures of different types to NMs). This is despite the difficulties of relating the results of such tests to effects of the NMs *in vivo* and the acknowledgement that *in vitro* tests generally have a very limited role to play in assisting HRA (Park *et al* 2009)<sup>85</sup> and that they do not necessarily reflect the complexity of *in vivo* mechanisms (Jones & Grainger 2009)<sup>104</sup>. At best, the *in vitro* tests may be capable of providing some insight into relative cytotoxicity potential, although this does not necessarily reflect comparative *in vivo* toxicity potential. They may also be useful for elucidating whether generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) plays an important mechanistic role, or whether other cytotoxic mechanisms may be equally, or more important (e.g. induction of apoptosis).

To illustrate the need to be wary of artefactual results in poorly conceived *in vitro* studies, Horie *et al* (2009)<sup>105</sup> described NP-induced cytotoxicity in cultured cells which could be attributed (at least in part) to depletion of proteins and Ca<sup>++</sup> from incubation media by direct adsorption onto NP surfaces.

Differentiation of *in vitro* toxicity due to NPs and their solubilised components is rarely attempted. In the Park *et al* (2008)<sup>106</sup> study of CeO NP toxicity (see Section 4.2.1) one of the experiments with cultured A549 human epithelial cells compared the cytotoxicity of several metal oxide NPs (CuO, ZnO and TiO<sub>2</sub>) with their soluble chloride salts. The results showed that the soluble metal salts were more cytotoxic than their NP counterparts (LC50s for the three NPs were 300, 375, and 1600  $\mu$ M, while for the chloride salts the LD50s were 150, 100 and 600  $\mu$ M respectively). Neither CeO NPs nor microparticulate CeO were cytotoxic at 1000  $\mu$ M.

Haemolysis of human erythrocytes incubated with NPs *in vitro* has been suggested as a potentially sensitive method of assessing cytotoxicity, although in a study which used this method (Aisaka *et al* 2008)<sup>107</sup>, it surprisingly found that micron-scale (<5000 nm) anatase-type TiO<sub>2</sub> was more potent than either amorphous (<50 nm) or rutile (<5000 nm) forms, and in turn the micron-scale anatase form was almost equipotent with the nanoscale TiO<sub>2</sub> (<25 nm). However, haemolytic effects were abolished by the presence of plasma, suggesting that this type of toxicity would be unlikely to occur *in vivo*.

### 4.1 Studies with metal oxides

#### 4.1.1 In vivo studies

Liang *et al*  $(2009)^{108}$  demonstrated that a single intratracheal instillation of TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs (surface area SA 50 m<sup>2</sup>/g and 250 m<sup>2</sup>/g) at 0.5, 5 or 50 mg/kg bw produced no obvious hepatic or renal toxicity at 7 days. However, there were some relatively minor differences in toxicity of the high and low SA TiO<sub>2</sub> - lipid peroxidation, observed as elevated malondialdehyde (MDA), but only with the material having the higher SA.

In contrast to these results, Ma  $(2009)^{109}$ , who had previously reported liver damage in mice after administration of anatase TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs, found that repeated IP injections of anatase

TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs (5 nm; 5-150 mg/kg bw) in mice produced clear dose-dependent inflammatory lesions in the liver. There were elevations of plasma enzymes indicative of liver disease and evidence of apoptosis and histopathological changes as well. Similar toxicity, although less marked, was seen in mice injected with 150 mg/kg non-nano anatase TiO<sub>2</sub>.

In a rare study which used an oral route of NP administration, Wang *et al* (2006)<sup>110</sup> compared the systemic and gastrointestinal toxicity of nanoscale ZnO (58 nm) compared to microscale ZnO (1080 nm). Both were administered as a single 5g Zn/kg bw dose by gavage, and the mice observed for 14 days. The doses used were remarkably high, and they produced significant hepatic and renal toxicity, with less marked gastrointestinal inflammation. There were two deaths associated caused by gastrointestinal obstruction with aggregated NPs. Given the very large doses used, and lack of discrimination between nano- and micro-scale ZnO, it is unlikely that this study adds information useful for HRA.

Finally, in a study which used an IV route of administration to bypass absorption barriers and enable tissue distribution to be studied, Fabian *et al* (2008)<sup>111</sup> showed that  $TiO_2$  NPs (5 mg/kg bw IV) produced highest tissue accumulation in liver>spleen>lung>kidney, with no detectable accumulation in blood (cells or plasma), brain or lymph nodes. Importantly, this direct route of administration showed no inflammatory response or systemic toxicity.

Chen *et al*  $(2009)^{112}$  reported a wide range of systemic toxic effects in mice after IP injection of TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs (~100nm). However, the doses used were huge (324-2592 mg/kg). While the TiO<sub>2</sub> was shown to distribute into several tissues (notably spleen, liver and lungs) and there were suggestions of substantial acute systemic toxicity, the utility of this study to inform HRA is limited.

#### 4.1.2 In vitro studies

Hussain *et al* (2009)<sup>113</sup> studied the cytotoxic effects of two chemically distinct NPs, carbon black (CB) and titanium dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>), on a human bronchial epithelial cell line. They reported that size differences of even few nanometres in primary particle size lead to significant changes in inflammatory and oxidative stress responses. Oxidative stress was well correlated with NP surface area and the extent of intracellular uptake of the NPs. Inflammatory effects were also related to SA and oxidative stress.

Similar findings were reported by Lin *et al* (2009)<sup>114</sup> using ZnO NPs (70-420nm) in A549 human bronchiolar carcinoma-derived epithelial cells. The toxicity was shown to be associated with oxidative stress, ameliorated with N-acetylcysteine, and not dependent on free Zn<sup>++</sup> release.

### 4.1.3 Photogenotoxicity

Given that both ZnO and  $TiO_2$  NPs are used in sunscreen preparations, it is of interest to know whether photoactivation with UVA light influences their toxicity.

While Lu *et al*  $(2009)^{115}$  did not assess photogenotoxicity with TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs, they did demonstrate that, under UV irradiation, TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs (commercially available anatase and Degussa), both strongly potentiated tyrosine nitration of bovine serum albumin and mouse skin homogenates *in vitro*. Rutile NPs were much less potent. The implication was that two of the commercial TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs could be implicated in photosensitization reactions with commercial sunscreens. The authors conceded that more work needs to be done to verify this potential toxicity.

Photogenotoxicity, as well as cytotoxicity and skin/eye irritancy potential, was assessed by Park *et al*  $(2009)^{116}$  for a TiO<sub>2</sub> NP modified by incorporating 0.7% manganese into the

crystalline lattice structure. It was developed as a commercial sunscreen ingredient (Optisol®). Cytotoxicity and phototoxicity were essentially negligible, and it compared favourably in such tests with other commercially available coated TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs.

Gopalan *et al* (2009)<sup>117</sup> used human sperm cells and lymphocytes and the Comet assay to investigate this phenomenon. They found evidence of photogenotoxicity, in the absence of frank cytotoxicity, for both NPs and that both pre- and concurrent- irradiation with UVA enhanced the reduction in DNA content compared to incubation in the dark. The effects were more marked with lymphocytes than with sperm.

Theogaraj *et al* (2007<sup>118</sup> compared the genotoxicity of 8 different classes of  $TiO_2$  NPs in CHO cells, with and without UV light irradiation. None of the  $TiO_2$  NPs produced any clastogenicity (chromosomal aberrations), irrespective of UV irradiation.

The endpoints (clastogenicity and DNA damage) are different in the above two studies, suggesting that if TiO<sub>2</sub> is photo-activated, the outcomes may be relatively specific.

### 4.2 Studies with CeO

CeO NP toxicity is probably mediated much like other metal oxides. Only two *in vitro* studies with CeO were identified as published during the period of this report.

Eom *et al* (2009)<sup>119</sup> showed that in cultured human bronchial epithelial cells, the effects of CeO NPs are mediated by ROS inducing p38-Nrf-2 signalling transcription pathways which activate haem oxygenase.

The other study (Gojova *et al* (2009)<sup>120</sup>) on cardiovascular cells is discussed in Section 9.2

#### 4.2.1 HRA for CeO

The study by Park *et al* (2009)<sup>106</sup> is potentially more important, because it attempted to correlate *in vivo* and *in vitro* toxicity endpoints with estimates of likely human exposure associated with the use of CeO NPs as a diesel fuel additive. In other words, it was an attempt to carry out a classical HRA.

The study used UK air monitoring data, from cities where CeO had been introduced to diesel fuel of local buses, to estimate likely inhalational exposures. Modelled estimates were converted into estimated human equivalent internal doses for comparison with  $LC_{50}$  and NOAEL figures from *in vitro* toxicity studies. The CeO materials studied were characterised as NPs 9 nm mean particle size, BET surface area 94.7 m<sup>2</sup>/g and these were compared with conventional CeO particles of size 320 nm and BET 2.74 m<sup>2</sup>/g. Both CeO materials were assessed as non-irritant in an *in vitro* EpiDerm skin irritancy test, non-mutagenic in the Ames test, and non-cytotoxic to L929 cells. Cultured rat lung cells were exposed to CeO aerosols for 3 hr to assess cell viability and effects on cellular antioxidant and energy production functions. There was no significant toxicity with 140nm NP aggregates at exposure levels of 14, 76 or 157 mg/m<sup>3</sup>. Similarly, there was no cytotoxicity observed with either CeO particulates at up to 100 µg/mL in cultured A549 cells.

The overall conclusion was that the internal dose exposure estimates to human lung cells (from  $1.26 \times 10^{-4}$  to  $3.8 \times 10^{-7}$  cm<sup>2</sup>/cm<sup>2</sup> based on NP surface area conversion) were well below the levels showing toxicity. The comparator was internal doses of 26.75 cm<sup>2</sup>/cm<sup>2</sup> calculated from the highest NOAEL in the *in vitro* studies. This demonstrates acceptable safety for the specified use of CeO NPs. In fact, the authors suggested that addition of

CeO NPs to diesel fuel may reduce the level of airborne particulates associated with diesel exhaust, and possibly reduce overall health impacts of such pollution.

# 4.3 Studies with CNTs

### 4.3.1 In vivo studies

Tong *et al* (2009)<sup>121</sup> compared the cardiopulmonary toxicity of SWCNTs and UF CB in mice. The study used oropharyngeal administration of 20 or 40  $\mu$ g of SWCNTs and UFCB, with and without acid functionalisation (AF) of the particle surfaces. Pulmonary inflammatory responses and cardiac toxicity was assessed 24 hours after dosing. Significant toxicity was observed only in the high dose groups, although sporadic clumps of particulate material were observed in the airways of all groups. AF increased the pulmonary toxicity of both SWCNTs and UFCB, but cardiac toxicity (ischemia/reperfusion injury and myocardial degeneration) was only seen with AF-UFCB. The authors were unable to conclude whether the differences in toxicity associated with AF were due to changes in translocation or reflect a novel systemic cardiovascular response.

Yang *et al* (2008)<sup>122</sup> studied the systemic toxicity of SWCNTs after IV injection in mice (40, 200 and 1000  $\mu$ g/mouse). They used Raman spectroscopy and TEM to demonstrate long-term accumulation (up to 3 months) in various tissues (mainly liver, lung and spleen), but the level of induced toxicity was mild. There was some evidence of inflammatory cell infiltration in the lungs, but no evidence of apoptosis in any organ, and only mild indications of oxidative stress.

Deng *et al* (2009)<sup>123</sup> examined the potential splenic toxicity of MWCNTs. There were no functional changes (RES phagocytic activity, reduced glutathione, superoxide dismutase or malondialdehyde) or observable histopathological damage after administering 60 or 100 mg/kg bw IV MWCNTs. However, MWCNTs gradually transferred from red pulp to white pulp tissue within the spleen.

MWCNTs suppress T-cell related immune responses after inhalational exposure via indirect signals to T-cells in the spleen (Elder 2009)<sup>65</sup>.

Dermal toxicity was the focus of a study by Murray *et al* (2009)<sup>124</sup>, where SWCNTs were tested in two skin culture systems. The response in Epiderm engineered human skin was epidermal thickening, accumulation and activation of fibroblasts, with consequent collagen formation and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Cultured murine epidermal cells responded with dose-dependent hydroxyl radical formation and activation of cytokines AP-1 and NF<sub>K</sub>B. However, there was a difference in the cytokine response, with AP-1 not activated by purified SWCNTs (0.23% Fe), while NF<sub>K</sub>B occurred with both purified and unpurified (30% Fe) SWCNTs. In a repeated-exposure *in vivo* component to the study using hairless mice, daily application of 40, 80 or 160  $\mu$ g for 5 days resulted in various changes indicative of oxidative stress.

With a warning that impurities in manufactured CNTs can influence the outcome of toxicity studies, Koyama *et al* (2009)<sup>125</sup> showed that subcutaneous implantation of purified MWCNTs in mice produced significantly less immunological toxicity and alopoecia than MWCNTs which had not been purified.

Ryman-Rasmussen *et al* (2009)<sup>126</sup> tested the hypothesis that inhalational exposure to MWCNTs could potentiate pulmonary responses (measured as airway fibrosis) in a murine

allergic asthma *in vivo* model. A single 6 hr exposure (100 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) confirmed the hypothesis, with significant airway fibrosis observed at 14 days. There were differential results on the release of inflammatory mediators, with platelet-derived growth factor (a fibroblast mitogen) and TGF- $\beta$ 1 (a collagen stimulator) being required for maximal response.

Inoue *et al* (2009)<sup>127</sup> reported similar findings with intratracheally instilled MWCNTs (50 µg weekly for 6 weeks) in a murine allergic asthma model, although they measured different endpoints. They found MWCNTs aggravated the pulmonary inflammatory responses, as measured by infiltration of eosinophils, neutrophils and monocytes into lung tissues, along with an increase in goblet cells in the bronchial epithelium. MWCNTs amplified lung protein levels of Th cytokines and chemokines compared to allergen alone, and exhibited adjuvant activity for allergen-specific IgG1 and IgE. An allergen-induced increase in syngeneic T-cell proliferation in vitro was enhanced at low concentration in MWCNT-treated mice. The conclusion was that MWCNT can exacerbate murine allergic airway inflammation, at least partly, via the promotion of a Th-dominant milieu. In addition, the exacerbation may be partly through the inappropriate activation of antigen-presenting cells including DC.

Extrapolation of these findings to humans (if valid) would imply that individuals with preexisting asthma may be more susceptible to pulmonary toxicity from inhaled MWCNTs. This could be consistent with epidemiological findings of correlations between asthma severity and UF air pollutants. This appears to be an important finding to follow up.

### 4.3.2 In vitro studies

Herzog *et al* (2009)<sup>128</sup> compared the ROS-generating effects of two types of SWCNTs, CB and crocidolite asbestos in human lung epithelial cells *in vitro*. They found that all three produced moderate to low levels of oxidative stress, but the responsiveness was markedly dependent on the type of dispersant used.

Witasp *et al* (2009)<sup>129</sup> studied the effects of SWCNTs on human monocyte-derived macrophages. The SWCNTs were not cytotoxic, although they suppressed macrophage chemotaxis. Moreover, they markedly impaired macropyga engulfment of apoptotic target cells.

While there has been no speculation that CNTs may be inherently neurotoxic, their potential biomedical applications caused Bardi *et al* (2009)<sup>130</sup> to investigate MWCNT toxicity to cultured mouse cerebral cortex. They could find no evidence of cytotoxicity using MWCNTs coated with Pluronic F127 surfactant. While the surfactant is itself relatively neurotoxic, binding it to MWCNTs exerts a protective effect.

### 4.4 Studies with fullerenes

Studies assessing the potential cardiovascular toxicity, inhalational toxicity and genotoxicity of fullerenes have been summarised elsewhere in this report (see Sections 2.1, 3.5 and 5.4).

#### 4.4.1 In vivo studies

Fullerene injected directly into the brain of mice produced neurotoxicity in the form of increased locomotor activity and modified various brain neurotransmitters (Yamada *et al* 

2008) <sup>131</sup>. The fact that no such findings occurred when C60 was injected IP suggests that the NP was unable to cross the blood-brain barrier.

A rather bizarre effect of fullerenes was reported by Zhou *et al* (2009)<sup>132</sup>. They found that fullerenes enhanced hair follicle numbers and promoted hair growth after topical application to shaved mouse skin. The effects were even more marked in genetically "bald" (SKH-1) mice. Similar hair follicle promotion was reported for cultured human skin. The biological mechanism remains obscure, although it could involve activation of cell signalling pathways which regulate hair follicle turnover.

The implications for HRA are also obscure, but there is an obvious potential for a therapeutic application.

#### 4.4.2 In vitro studies

Since fullerenes suspended in tetrahydrofuran (THF) have generally been shown to be more toxic than native C60, Zhang *et al* (2009)<sup>133</sup> investigated THF formulation effects. They demonstrated the formation of a reactive peroxide which could account, at least in part, for the enhanced toxicity of THF/C60 compared to native C60 NPs. This further emphasises the potential for *in vitro* studies with NPs to result in toxicity which would not necessarily occur *in vivo*. Similar findings were reported by Spohn *et al* (2009)<sup>134</sup> using A549 cells and *Daphnia magna*.

### 4.5 Studies with nanosilver

The three reviews of nanosilver toxicity<sup>39-41</sup> all enunciate the enigma of whether the toxicity of silver NPs can be differentiated based on attribution of some effects to the release of soluble silver ions, or to the NP surface characteristics, or to a combination of the two.

Apart from inhalational toxicity studies described in Section 3.6, *in vitro* studies were the only other nanosilver toxicity identified as published during the period of this report.

The common effects of PVP-coated silver NPs (69 nm) and silver ions was demonstrated by Foldbjerg *et al* (2009)<sup>135</sup> in an *in vitro* study with THP-1 cells (a human acute monocytic leukaemia cell line). Both forms of silver induced apoptosis and necrosis via intracellular ROS generation and there was no basis for differentiating between the two forms, other than silver ions were slightly more potent.

Arora *et al* (2009)<sup>136</sup> and Asharani *et al* (2009)<sup>137</sup> both used TEM to demonstrate the entry of silver NPs into the cytoplasm and mitochondria of cultured cells. However, there were differences in the cytotoxic response, depending on what type of cell was challenged. Human lung fibroblasts responded primarily with ROS production, reduced ATP and DNA damage, while human glioblastoma (cancer) cells appeared to be slightly more susceptible to DNA damage. Liver cells were less sensitive than fibroblasts. Necrosis required quite high incubation concentrations (100-500 µg/mL), consistent with there being an enhancement of cellular antioxidants, although the threshold for inducing apoptosis (3-12 µg/mL) appeared to be lower than the IC50 for necrosis. Toxicity studies with human epidermal keratinocytes showed that lysozyme-stabilised silver NPs are not cytotoxic at concentrations (up to 25 µg/mL) which are clearly antimicrobial (Eby *et al* 2009)<sup>138</sup>. In contrast, nanosilver was shown to be cytotoxic to human mesenchymal stem cells >5 µg/mL, and induced proliferation, cytokine release and inhibited chemotaxis at 2.5 µg/mL (Greulich *et al* 2009)<sup>139</sup>.

Kim *et al* (2009)<sup>140</sup> compared the cytotoxicity of silver ions (Ag<sup>+</sup>) and Ag<sup>+</sup>-free silver NPs in cultured human hepatoma cells. While both produced intracellular oxidative stress and were comparably cytotoxic, NP-induced oxidative stress and DNA damage could be reduced by antioxidants. The authors concluded that Ag NP-induced oxidative stress is largely independent of free Ag<sup>+</sup> release.

# 5. Studies of NP genotoxicity

Because of substantial evidence that the toxicity of NPs is at least partly mediated by ROS generation, as well as studies which infer a mesothelial carcinogenic comparability between CNTs and asbestos, there has been substantial interest shown in assessing the genotoxic potential of a range of ENPs. There have been general reviews of NP genotoxicity (Doak *et al* 2009<sup>67</sup>, Singh *et al* 2009<sup>68</sup>), as well as studies on individual NP types and a critical review of the methodologies for assessing the genotoxicity of NPs (Landsiedel *et al* 2009<sup>141</sup>).

In a study which compared the cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of several NPs (CB, SWCNTs, silicon dioxide, and ZnO) in relation to their size and shape, Yang *et al* (2009)<sup>142</sup> concluded that their relative cytotoxicity was more influenced by the NP size and composition, but that NP shape was a more important determinant of genotoxicity. ROS formation was confirmed as a key step influencing both types of toxicity.

### 5.1 Studies with ZnO and TiO<sub>2</sub>

Bhattacharya *et al* (2009)<sup>143</sup> compared the *in vitro* cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of  $TiO_2$  and FeO NPs in cultured human lung fibroblasts and bronchial epithelial cells. Both types of NPs were shown to translocate into the cytoplasm, but not into the cell nucleus. Generation of ROS was clearly demonstrated and, in the case of fibroblasts incubated with  $TiO_2$ , DNA damage was shown in the form of 8-OHdG adducts. Bronchial epithelial cells were more resistant to NP-induced DNA damage. In contrast to  $TiO_2$ , FeO induced DNA breakage (clastogenicity), but only when presented in a reducing environment.

Sharma *et al*  $(2009)^{144}$  used the Comet assay to demonstrate that even relatively low concentrations (0.8 µg/mL) of ZnO NPs with 6 hr culture of human epidermal cells may have genotoxic potential. They also showed significant oxidative stress at the same concentration, as well as tenfold lower. Their conclusion that such genotoxicity could be associated with *in vivo* dermal exposures (such as use in sunscreens) was probably overstated.

Kang *et al*  $(2008)^{145}$  also used the Comet assay, as well as the cytokinesis-blocked micronucleus assay with human lymphocytes *in vitro* to show that TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs induce DNA damage. However, they showed that TiO<sub>2</sub> does not stimulate transactivational activity of p53-derived proteins, but the ROS activated by the NPs activate p53-mediated DNA damage checkpoint signals.

# 5.2 Studies with CeO

Auffan *et al* 2009<sup>146</sup> found nanoscale CeO NPs (7 nm) to be both cytotoxic and genotoxic in human dermal fibroblasts. DNA damage and chromosomal changes were presumably associated with ROS formation.

### 5.3 Studies with CNTs

Di Sotto *et al* (2009)<sup>147</sup> and Wirnitzer *et al* (2009)<sup>148</sup> found no evidence of genotoxicity with MWCNTs, using a conventional battery of bacterial reverse mutation assays and chromosomal aberration tests in V79 cells.

Lindberg *et al* (2009)<sup>149</sup> found that NPs containing >50% SWCNTs and graphite nanofibres both caused dose-dependent DNA damage in cultured human lung epithelial cells, using a Comet assay and micronucleus assay. However, the authors were unable to determine the extent to which catalyst metals present in the NP samples may have contributed to the results.

# 5.4 Studies with fullerenes

Liang *et al* (2009)<sup>150</sup> demonstrated an interesting effect of C60 fullerene on DNA replication, which may be of some use in improving the efficiency or real-time polymerase chain reaction techniques. They suggested that fullerenes could bind to DNA and alter DNA replication by changing the conformation of DNA templates.

Song *et al* (2009)<sup>151</sup> reported that fullerenes solubilised using surface modification with mono- and bis-methanophosphonate groups could inhibit DNA restrictive endonucleases. The effects were not reversed by ROS scavengers.

### 5.4.1 Studies with fullerenes and other NPs

Folkmann *et al* (2009)<sup>152</sup> compared the genotoxicity of SWCNTs and C60 fullerenes after administration of 0.064 or 0.64 mg/kg bw by intragastric intubation in rats. Genotoxicity was assessed by determining the levels of premutagenic 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2'-deoxyguanosine adducts in the colonic mucosa, liver and lungs. Both NPs increased DNA adducts in liver and lung, although with C60, only the high dose increased adducts in lung. No adducts were found in colonic mucosal cells. While the authors concluded that the genotoxic effect was direct, rather than via inhibition of DNA repair, the implications for HRA are not clear.

Xu *et al*  $(2009)^{153}$  identified peroxynitrate anions as important mediators of genotoxicity in a genetically modified mouse model (gpt delta transgenic mouse primary fibroblasts). They studied both unmodified fullerenes and TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs.

Essentially, these findings demonstrate a potential for fullerenes to interact with DNA under some experimental conditions, but they are probably of limited significance with regard to HRA.

# 5.5 Studies with nanosilver

Despite the known ability of silver NPs to produce ROS, there appears to have been little interest in studying its potential genotoxicity. Only one study was identified in the period covered by this report, and the technique used to assess genotoxicity was of dubious validity.

Chi *et al* (2009)<sup>154</sup> showed that nanosilver by itself is weakly genotoxic (if at all), but combining it with a detergent (cetylpyridinium bromide) markedly enhanced the response, as measured by resonance light scattering.

# 6. Dermal absorption and skin penetration

The extent of dermal penetration of NPs is of interest in relation to OHS investigations and also in relation to the deliberate application of some NPs to skin in the form of sunscreens and cosmetics<sup>49, 50</sup>. Previous studies and reviews suggest that skin penetration through intact skin may be minimal for most NPs. However, like most other chemicals, the penetration of NPs into the skin is likely to be enhanced when the skin is broken or damaged (Kezic and Nielsen 2009<sup>155</sup>).

# 6.1 Metal oxides (ZnO and TiO<sub>2</sub>)

Kiss *et al* (2008)<sup>156</sup> studied penetration of TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs (anatase 9 nm) in an immunocompromised mouse model with grafted human skin. They confirmed that there was no penetration of the intact epidermal layer, using nuclear microprobe analysis. However, when cultured human keratinocytes were exposed to TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs *in vitro*, there were effects on a range of cell functions, including proliferation, apoptosis, differentiation and viability. This suggests that TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs are likely to be more toxic to damaged skin, as well as having greater skin penetration.

Kuo *et al* (2009)<sup>157</sup> used photoluminescence techniques to study skin penetration of ZnO NPs in cultured skin from nude mice. They demonstrated that ethanol, oleic acid and ethanol/oleic acid combinations all enhanced skin penetration, by increasing the fluidity of the *stratum corneum*.

Zvyagin *et al* (2008)<sup>158</sup> used a combination of SEM, TEM and multiphoton microscopy to investigate the transport of nano ZnO (26-30 nm) into excised human skin and after topical application *in vivo*. They showed that nano ZnO does not penetrate past the upper layers of the *stratum corneum*, remaining within skin folds and hair follicles. This study confirms previous assumptions that the nano ZnO preparations used in sunscreens are unlikely to present a systemic toxicity hazard. These conclusions were confirmed by even more extensive investigations by Gontier *et al* (2008)<sup>159</sup> using a combination of TEM, STIM, Rutherford Backscattering Microscopy, and Particle-induced X-ray emission to study the penetration ZnO NPs through human and porcine, as well as a human skin grafted mouse model *in vivo*. Shulz *et al* (2002)<sup>160</sup> had previously confirmed the lack of penetration of TiO<sub>2</sub> and ZnO NPs into human skin, irrespective of particle size or shape variability (study not included in other reviews).

However, on a more cautious note, Yanigasawa *et al* (2009)<sup>161</sup> studied the ability of intradermally injected (20  $\mu$ g) TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs (15, 50 and 100 nm; SA 110, 20-25 and 10-15 m<sup>2</sup>/g respectively) to reveal toxic effects when applied to damaged skin. They used a mouse model with atopic dermatitis induced by treatment with mites. The aggravation of the mite-induced atopic dermatitis was TiO<sub>2</sub> NP size-related, although the differences were relatively small. Immunological studies showed the effects to be mediated by T-helper type cytokine responses. While TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs alone produced no obvious skin changes, there were some increases in histamine plasma levels and interleukin-13 expression.

Wu *et al*  $(2009)^{162}$  used two different approaches to studying the absorption of nano-TiO<sub>2</sub> after dermal application. The materials studied were commercially obtained nano-TiO<sub>2</sub> (anatase 4 and 10 nm; rutile 25, 60 and 90 nm; anatase/rutile 21 nm). Like others, they

showed minimal penetration of NPs through intact porcine skin *in vitro* over 24 h using AAS analysis of receptor fluid and tape stripping of the skin fragments. The NPs (5%) were suspended in a 20% caprylic/capric triglyceride vehicle containing 1% Tween 80. However, when topically applied daily to porcine ears *in vivo* over 30 days (24 mg of 4 and 60 nm Nano-TiO<sub>2</sub> at 5% in an aqueous 2% carbopol/triethanolamine vehicle) there was substantial movement of NP through the horny layer into the deeper epidermis. When applied to the skin of hairless mice daily over 60 days (same vehicle with five of the NPs 10-90 nm; 24 mg emulsion equal to 400  $\mu$ gTiO<sub>2</sub>/cm<sup>2</sup>), there was substantial systemic absorption and translocation into tissues (mainly skin, subcutaneous muscle, spleen heart and liver). Although one of the NPs (21nm anatase/rutile) was shown to penetrate into brain tissue, the amounts of TiO<sub>2</sub> deposited in various tissues showed substantial variability, and with no clear pattern associated with NP size. The liver and skin were the main sites of systemic toxicity, with evidence of oxidative stress-mediated effects.

# 6.2 CeO

No studies of the dermal penetration of CeO NPs were identified during the 20 month period of interest for this review.

# 6.3 CNTs

No studies of the dermal penetration of CNTs were identified during the 20 month period of interest for this review.

# 6.4 Fullerenes

Only one study relating to the dermal penetration of fullerenes was identified during the 20 month period of interest for this review.

Kato *et al* (2009)<sup>163</sup> studied human skin permeability and consequent toxicity of fullerenes dissolved in squalene (LipoFullerene). They found that C60 could permeate into the epidermis, but could not cross the basement membrane into the dermis. The same material was negative for cytotoxicity, phototoxicity and mutagenicity in relevant *in vitro* tests.

# 6.5 Nanosilver

Only one study relating to the dermal penetration of nanosilver was identified during the 20 month period of interest for this review.

Larese *et al* (2009)<sup>164</sup> studied the absorption of nanosilver through intact and damaged human skin in a Franz diffusion cell. NPs passed through intact skin at a rate of 0.46 ng/cm<sup>2</sup> in 24 hours, but in damaged skin, the penetration was approximately five-fold higher.

# 7. Worker exposure studies

It is generally acknowledged that making reliable measurements of NP exposure in the workplace presents challenges in formulating appropriate OHS strategies. A significant part of this challenge is differentiating ENP exposure associated with manufacturing activity from the background exposure to incidental NPs and UFPs of anthropomorphic and non-anthropomorphic origin (Ono-Ogasawara *et al* 2009<sup>165</sup>, Peters *et al* 2009<sup>166</sup>).

Plitzko (2009)<sup>167</sup> has summarised concentrations and size distributions of NPs (TiO<sub>2</sub>, nanofibres, ceramic NMs and other nanostructured materials) in German productions plants. While the levels were generally low when effective exhaust-hood conditions were in place, occasional measurements of NP agglomerate were reported. Plitzko also emphasised the importance of differentiating workplace NPs sources from incidental background levels, and proposed the combined use of electron microscopy techniques along with chemical composition and particle number, in order to characterise agglomerates.

Schulte *et al* (2009)<sup>27</sup> reviewed the literature on workplace exposure to NPs and defined twelve key issues which need to be addressed in developing epidemiological studies of possible health impacts on NPs. Of these, the most important factors were understanding the nature of NP heterogeneity, the temporal aspects of exposures, characterization of exposures, defining appropriate disease endpoints and characterizing the study populations.

While it did not address NP exposures directly, a review by Shaffer & Rengsamy (2009)<sup>28</sup> did address the efficacy of different types of respirator filters to protect workers against inhaling airborne NPs.

# 7.1 TiO<sub>2</sub>

Liao *et al* (2009, 2008)<sup>168,169</sup> set out to estimate potential worker exposure to  $TiO_2$  NPs using published data on NP airborne concentrations and size distribution across a range of industries. Based on these data, and using a physiological model of lung deposition, they estimated the phase-specific NP cell burdens on target dermal and lung cells. They compared these estimates of cellular burden with cytotoxicity  $ED_{50}s$  derived from *in vitro* studies using human dermal cells and inflammatory  $ED_{50}s$  for human epithelial lung cells. They concluded that packers and surface treatment workers at  $TiO_2$  production plants were unlikely to have exposures resulting in acute inflammatory lung disease, but because the dermal cytotoxicity  $ED_{50}s$  are at least an order of magnitude lower, there may be a risk of skin effects associated with relatively high airborne levels of anatase  $TiO_2$  NPs (20-30 nm).

Robichaud *et al* (2009)<sup>170</sup> tried a different approach to estimating TiO<sub>2</sub> exposure. They surveyed evolving manufacturing data and market trends to estimate possible upper bounds of environmental outputs. However, while the methodology may have some utility in measuring global environmental outputs, it has no utility in predicting individual workplace exposures.

# 7.2 CNTs

Tantra & Cumpson (2007)<sup>171</sup> reviewed the microscopic and spectroscopic techniques for detecting & quantitating CNTs in the workplace. It was clear that there are many challenges to be met in accurately quantitating worker exposures to CNTs and no 'perfect' technique exists. Ways to improve current technologies or develop/explore future technology for CNT detection are still very much needed.

Tsai *et al* (2009)<sup>172</sup> have published some workplace field monitoring data from premises where SWCNTs and MWCNTs have been manufactured. They considered some of the factors which could result in lowering airborne emissions.

# 7.3 Nanosilver

Park *et al* (2009)<sup>173</sup> measured worker exposure to nanosilver in a Korean production facility. While they found that the liquid-phase process minimises inhalational exposure compared to a gas-phase process, there was still significant exposure potential associated with release of nanosilver and formation of airborne aggregates from the liquid-phase reactors. They also showed that nanosilver exposures could be significant during drying and grinding processes, even when efficient ventilation practices were in place.

Similarly, Tsai *et al* (2009)<sup>174</sup> found that significant airborne nanosilver and nanoalumina release could occur in Japanese production facilities even when processes were handled in fume hoods, but especially when the processes involved dry powders. They made recommendations relating to hood design and work practices to minimise this exposure potential.

# 7.4 Chinese workers

In the only reasonably well documented case of NP worker exposure (Song *et al*<sup>175</sup>), seven female workers in a Chinese print facility were diagnosed with pulmonary inflammation, fibrosis and granulomatous foreign bodies in the pleura, having presented to hospital with a history of shortness of breath and pleural effusions. One male worker from the same facility was asymptomatic. The workers had all been exposed for between 5-13 months to fumes from the spray application of a polyacrylic ester paste to polystyrene boards. The presence of NPs (<30 nm) in pulmonary epithelial and mesothelial cells was demonstrated by TEM, and *post-hoc* sampling of the workplace also showed substantial NP deposition. However, there was no conclusive proof that the NPs caused the disease, since the workers were likely to have been exposed to other toxic materials.

While it was clear that the occupational hygiene practices in the workplace were far from ideal<sup>176</sup>, the cases attracted quite a lot of media attention because this was the first human linkage of NP exposure to an adverse health effect consistent with those seen in animal studies and which could therefore be expected to be an outcome associated with long-term NP inhalational exposure. Furthermore, two of the seven cases died as a result of progressive lung disease.

# 8. Special issues relating to carbon nanotubes

### 8.1 Mesothelioma potential

Ever since Poland *et al* published their 2008 study (reviewed in the Toxikos report) showing the size-dependent effects of asbestos and MWCNTs to induce a pathogenic response indicative of mesothelioma, there has been substantial interest in further exploration of this toxic effect. See also, reviews by Jaurand *et al* (2009)<sup>177</sup>, Kostelaros (2008)<sup>178</sup> and Sanchez *et al* (2009)<sup>179</sup>.

### 8.1.1 Two-year rat study

Muller *et al* (2009)<sup>180</sup> reported a 2 year carcinogenicity study with MWCNTs designed to establish the comparative potency of MWCNTs and asbestos (crocidolite fibres) to cause peritoneal mesotheliomas in Wistar rats (n=50 per group). Rats were given a single IP injection of MWCNT with (2 or 20 mg/rat) and without (20 mg/rat) structural defects thought to enhance the surface area and pathogenicity of the fibres. The incidence of tumour formation was followed with serial sacrifices over two years. Negative and positive controls (n=26 per group) received either vehicle or 2 mg/rat crocidolite.

The key findings of this study were that crocidolite increased the incidence of peritoneal mesotheliomas (34.6%) over negative controls (3.8%), while neither the modified nor the unmodified MWCNTs increased this response (4, 0 and 6%). The rat IP methodology has been previously used to clearly demonstrate a carcinogenic response (mesothelioma) to asbestos and some other fibrogenic materials.

The authors cautioned against interpretation of the negative carcinogenicity response, since the length of the MWCNTs used (<1000 nm) may have been inappropriate and there was an absence of a sustained inflammatory response.

### 8.1.2 Rat peritoneal mesothelioma study

In a study with a rather unusual design, Sakamoto *et al*  $(2009)^{181}$  investigated the ability of MWCNTs instilled as a single dose (1 mg/kg bw) into the scrotal sac of male rats (n=7) to induce peritoneal mesotheliomas. The negative and positive controls received vehicle (n=5) or crocidolite asbestos (2 mg/kg bw). The authors proposed that the rat scrotal sac has direct contact with the peritoneum, with materials released from the scrotum with a "depot-like effect".

Only one rat in the MWCNT group survived for 52 weeks, with most developing invasive mesotheliomas in weeks 37-45 and succumbing. The surviving rat had clear mesothelial hyperplasia. In contrast, all the control and asbestos-treated rats survived for the full 52 weeks, and the incidence of mesothelioma and mesothelial hyperplasia was zero in both groups. There was some evidence of asbestos fibre deposition in the peritoneum, but no obvious pathological sequelae.

The interpretation of this study is difficult because of the low numbers of test animals used and the unusual experimental design. However, the comparative toxicity between asbestos and MWCNTs was stark. It would not be surprising if this study receives publicity as yet another indication that MWCNTs have pathogenic properties at least comparable to, if not greater than, asbestos.

### 8.2 Neurotoxicity

Xu *et al* (2009)<sup>182</sup> studied the effects of MWCNTs on membrane ionic channels using whole-cell patch clamp electrophysiology in undifferentiated phaeochromocytoma cells *in vitro*. While CNTs have not been specifically implicated as being neurotoxic, the authors were able to demonstrate that three types of K<sup>+</sup> channel ionic functions were inhibited by carboxyl-terminated MWCNTs at concentrations which did not alter ROS expression or change intracellular Ca<sup>++</sup>.

# 8.3 Other studies

Buckypaper is an innovative material made from MWCNTs with interesting physical/chemical properties and possible usefulness in pharmacological and prosthetic materials. Because of the general interest in the carcinogenic potential of MWCNTS, Bellucci *et al* (2009)<sup>183</sup> assessed the toxicity of buckypaper carbon nanotubes, which have a structural resemblance to asbestos by testing their effects on cancer and primary cell lines *in vitro* and *in vivo* in rats. They found buckypaper decreased proliferation of human colorectal, breast and leukemic cancer cell lines *in vitro*. However, there was no effect on the proliferation and viability of normal human arterial smooth muscle cells and human dermal fibroblasts *in vitro*. There was a moderate inflammatory reaction after *in vivo* administration but no mutagenic effects. After implantation the rats showed an inflammatory reaction followed 2 weeks later by a cicatrization reaction with the organization and fibrosis of the scar.

While the results with this novel form of MWCNTs indicate some of the expected inflammatory reactions and the in vitro proliferation of some cells (including cancer cells) was inhibited, it would be premature to draw any conclusions about the carcinogenic risks of buckypaper.

# 9. Special issues relating to metal oxides

### 9.1 Neurotoxicity

Ever since Oberdorster's group demonstrated a potentially direct uptake pathway for NPs into brain via neurones of the olfactory system, thus circumventing the blood-barrier, there has been speculation about the potential CNS neurotoxicity of NPs. Oberdorster *et al* (2009)<sup>184</sup> have followed this topic up with a recent review. However, they concede that the current evidence is insufficient to conclude that either ENPs or UF air pollutants have significant neurotoxic effects.

This section reviews some recent studies where the neurotoxic potential of metal oxide NPs has been assessed *in vivo* and *in vitro*.

#### 9.1.1 In vivo studies

Even though Wu *et al*  $(2009)^{162}$  demonstrated distribution of TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs to the brain of hairless mice after 60 days dermal application, there was no evidence of neurotoxicity (see also Section 6.1).

Shimizu *et al*  $(2009)^{185}$ demonstrated that maternal exposure to TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs ( $100\mu$ g SC) during pregnancy days 6,9,12 & 15 in mice caused several genes associated with apoptosis to be over-expressed in the brains on neonates, along with alterations in genes involved in early development, neurotransmitter function and some psychiatric diseases. While this study falls short of proving developmental neurotoxicity as a risk associated with TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs, it demonstrates that the foetus is accessible to such NPs and posts a warning sign.

Similar findings were reported by Takeda *et al*  $(2009)^{186}$ , who showed that the offspring of pregnant mice injected SC with  $100\mu$ g anatase TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs (25-70 nm; 20-25 m<sup>2</sup>/g) on postcoital days 3, 7, 10 and 14, showed neurotoxic damage to their genital and cranial nerves. TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs were detected in brain and testes of the newborn pups, indicating that the NPs crossed the placental barrier.

The most compelling evidence for TiO<sub>2</sub> induced neurotoxic potential comes from the studies of Wang *et al* (2008, 2008)<sup>187,188</sup>. They demonstrated direct uptake into brain via the olfactory lobes after intranasal instillation, with the hippocampal region being a primary target for accumulation and toxicity. Surprisingly, larger (155 nm) anatase TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs were more toxic than smaller (85 nm) rutile TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs. The authors suggested that this may somehow be associated with differences in crystalline structure. Confirmation that crystalline structure influences TiO<sub>2</sub> cytotoxicity may be found in the review by Braydiche-Stolle *et al* (2009)<sup>189</sup>.

#### 9.1.2 In vitro studies

Long *et al*  $(2009)^{190}$  proposed that, as brain microglia are susceptible to oxidant stress, they may be a suitable model for studying TiO<sub>2</sub> NP neurotoxicity. They incubated brain microglia with TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs *in vitro*, and were able to demonstrate a rapid ROS burst, followed by sustained release ROS release, possibly mediated by interference with mitochondrial energy production. The importance of this study was that it demonstrated ROS release at non-cytotoxic concentrations 2.5 – 120 ppm). The implication that the ROS bursts did not trigger apoptosis in these susceptible cells is inconsistent with their pilot

data showing  $TiO_2$ - inducing apoptosis at >20 ppm. Alternatively, the study was simply not long enough to reveal the eventual neurotoxic cell damage.

Deng *et al* (2009)<sup>191</sup> studied the effects of ZnO NPs on cultured murine neural stem cells. While they were able to demonstrate induction of apoptosis and dose-related decreased cell viability, the fact that they were unable to differentiate between different NP sizes and surface activities, led them to conclude that the neurotoxicity was probably entirely attributable to dissolved Zn ions in the media.

In contrast, D'Angelo *et al* (2009)<sup>192</sup>, investigating the potential for antioxidant effects of CeO NP to have useful therapeutic properties in the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases (Alzheimer's Disease) showed that SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells incubated with CeO NPs have beneficial effects as ROS scavengers, as well as influencing neuroprotective cell signalling pathways.

### 9.2 Cardiovascular toxicity

Since cardiovascular (CV) toxicity is one of the key health effects associated with UF air pollutants, there has been significant interest in whether manufactured NPs interact specifically with the CV system. This form of potential toxicity has been mentioned in reviews<sup>57, 193</sup> and there have been a number of recent studies addressing this potential toxicity for selected NPs.

Gojova *et al* (2009)<sup>120</sup> showed that CeO NPs caused very little inflammatory response when incubated with human aortic epithelial cells at high doses (up to 50  $\mu$ g/mL), while ZnO and Y<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> NPs were somewhat more inflammatory. They concluded that dissolution characteristics and pH changes associated with dissolution of the metal oxides could explain the toxicity differences.

# 10. Special issues relating to nanosilver

### 10.1 Neurotoxicity

Sharma *et al* (2009)<sup>194</sup> speculated that brain neurotoxic potential for metal NPs could be quite dependent on the type of metals, the route of administration and the species used. They assessed blood-brain barrier permeability and specific forms of neural cell damage after relatively larges doses of copper, aluminium and silver NPs (50-60 nm) by IP, IV, intracarotid and intracerebroventricular injection. While the patterns of neural injury may not reflect exposure conditions normally expected from occupational exposures, in general terms, copper and silver NPs were more neurotoxic than aluminium NPs.

# **11. Other special issues**

### 11.1 Effects of NP size and surface modification

Although it did little more than reinforce the fact that NP size influences cytotoxicity, Karlsson *et a*l (2009)<sup>195</sup> showed that nano- and micro-scale metal oxides have differential toxicity towards cell viability, ROS formation and DNA damage in cultured A549 cells. They attributed some of the difference to the intrinsic toxicity of the metal ions (see also Section 4).

Jiang *et al* (2008)<sup>196</sup> considered the effects of surface coating of NPs. They showed that coating gold and silver NPs with antibodies can modify the regulation of processes of membrane receptor internalization. They also showed that binding and activation of membrane receptors and subsequent protein expression is strongly depend on NP size, with 40-50 nm-sized NPs having the greatest effect on cell signalling processes within the range 2-100 nm size range.

Travan *et al* (2009)<sup>197</sup> also reported that coating nanosilver with polysaccharides reduces cytotoxicity without affecting antibacterial effects.

The ability of surface charge modification to alter solubility and the stability of NP aggregates has also been investigated for fullerenes (Chang & Vikesland 2009<sup>198</sup>). Fullerenes with a negative surface charge tend to be more stable in aqueous solution.

# 11.2 Structure-activity relationships (SAR)

Only four studies were found where there was a specific attempt to correlate SAR with NP toxicity. Two were *in vitro* studies with fullerenes; one used SWCNTs and the other MWCNTs.

Lao *et al*  $(2009)^{199}$  used fullerenes functionalised by hydroxylation (C<sub>60</sub>OH<sub>22</sub>) or malonic acid derivatisation C<sub>60</sub>(C(COOH)<sub>2</sub>)<sub>2</sub>. They showed that both derivatised fullerenes prevented sodium nitroprusside-induced nitric oxide-mediated apoptosis and loss of cell viability in cultured primary rat brain cerebral microvessel epithelial cells.

An antioxidant-like effect of native C60 on reducing apoptosis associated with nitric oxide formation was also shown by Misirkic *et al* (2009)<sup>200</sup>. This protective effect, mediated by prevention of mitochondrial depolarisation, caspase activation cell, exposure of cell membrane phosphatidylcholine and DNA fragmentation, was not thought to be a direct interaction with NO, but via neutralization of NO-induced hydroxyl radical production in mitochondria.

Martin *et al* (2009)<sup>201</sup> studied water-soluble carboxyfullerenes substituted with 6 or 12 carboxyl groups and synthesised from commercial C60. These two derivatives were compared with C60 fully caged with cyclodextrin, which enables the hydrophobic C60 to be solubilised and delivered to the cell surface. Dispersion and aggregation characteristics were correlated with their surface charge and redox potential, but there were also some significant differences in *in vitro* toxicity in human monocytic THP1 cells. While none of the derivatised fullerenes was particularly cytotoxic, functionalisation did influence their ability to elicit caspase protease responses, and to some extent, their ability to induce intracellular oxidative stress, necrosis and apoptosis. Carboxylate derivatised C60 was to

some extent protective against apoptosis, as opposed to cyclodextrin-caged C60, which was more capable of inducing apoptosis.

Lucente-Schulze *et al* (2009)<sup>202</sup> showed that derivatisation of SWCNTs with the phenolic antioxidant butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT), increased ROS quenching capacity to around 40 times that of fullerenes. However, increasing the extent of BHT loading both increased and decreased the ROS quenching effect, depending on whether the substitution was covalent and whether it was on the SWCNT sidewall. Both functionalized and non-functionalized SWCNTs were non-cytotoxic in this experiment.

Shen *et al*  $(2009)^{203}$  showed that derivatisation of MWCNTs with polyethylenimine and subsequent charge modification with acids could modify their water solubility and functional stability. The resultant neutral and negatively charged NPs were non-cytotoxic to a human epithelial carcinoma cell line (at up to 100 µg/mL), while positively charged NPs were at least 10 fold more cytotoxic.

# **12. Conclusions and remaining gaps in information**

There continues to be a rapid expansion of the literature base describing the toxicity of NMs. This report identifies several general reviews which have been published in the past 20 months, as well as a large number of experimental studies on the six NMs of interest to NICNAS (ZnO, TiO<sub>2</sub>, CeO, CNTs, fullerenes and nanosilver).

In addition to summarising individual reports and information relating to the toxicity of the six NMs, attempts have been made to assess the extent to which the literature informs HRA and safety assessment. In this context, the plethora of *in vitro* studies probably add little more than identifying cellular mechanisms involved in NP toxicity, and possibly where modification of their size and surface structure may influence relative cytotoxicity.

A possible exception is the HRA case study on CeO described in Section 4.2.1. While there were no *in vivo* experimental studies described in this paper, attempts were made to interpret *in vitro* toxicity test data in terms of comparative estimates of human lung cell deposition (human equivalent doses) and estimates of CeO NP exposure from diesel fumes following their use as a fuel additive.

The Riviere (2009) review<sup>204</sup> emphasises the importance of understanding NP pharmacokinetics in framing methodologies and policies for HRA. It noted the common theme across all particle types is that a major determinant of nanomaterial disposition is the degree of interaction with the reticuloendothelial (RE) cell system. Small water-soluble particles evading this system may be excreted by the kidney. Larger particles and those with the proper surface charge may get targeted to RE cells in the liver, spleen and other organs. Another common attribute to nanomaterial kinetics is retention of particles in the body. Most NPs have relatively short half-lives, reflecting clearance by tissue sequestration rather than excretion. Finally, unlike many small organic drugs, nanomaterials may preferentially be trafficked in the body via the lymphatic system. Such a clearance process has immunological implications.

In relation to *in vivo* studies, there has been a strong emphasis on understanding potential toxic effects on the lung, respiratory and cardiovascular systems after inhalational exposure. All these endpoints have been identified as potential targets for adverse effects associated with UF air pollutants. The inhalational route also represents a major pathway for exposure of workers manufacturing or handling NPs. It is regrettable that the majority of these studies have limited utility for HRA since they were either not specifically designed to demonstrate a NOAEL, or they used a single dose exposure paradigm. Single dose studies often used intratracheal instillation to deliver NPs to the respiratory system, and this method is unfortunately prone to artefactual outcomes (as well described in the Toxikos review).

In summary, the literature over the past 20 months has offered some advances in knowledge, although there remain substantial gaps. The main areas of advancement have been in relation to *in vitro* mechanistic studies and sub-chronic inhalational toxicity studies in rodents, which have demonstrated:

 Biopersistance (long-term retention of NPs in target tissues) is a factor quite critical in determining whether NPs penetrate cells and are retained long enough to provide the continuing inflammatory signals and other biological stimuli which lead to pathological changes

- Most biopersistent NPs induce adverse cellular oxidative stress events dependent on reactive oxygen species, but that initiation of apoptosis can be a further factor inducing cell necrosis. Furthermore, biological signals indicative of apoptosis can occur at dose levels lower than those producing frank cytotoxicity. This in turn suggests that cellular antioxidant mechanisms are partially protective against cytotoxicity
- Modification of surface activity (particularly that leading to volatilization of otherwise hydrophobic NPs) modifies the toxicity potential of NPs. However, as yet, there is no clear pattern of structure activity relationships (SAR) which would permit predictability of NP toxicity
- Formal HRA is still hampered by a lack of useful chronic exposure studies, especially those which clearly demonstrate dose-response relationships, or provide for clear NOAELs. The innovative approach to HRA exemplified by the case study relating exposure to CeO NPs used as a diesel fuel additive and comparing estimated human lung internal doses with *in vitro* toxicity data is a fresh ray of sunlight in an otherwise dim scenario, and
- Characterization of NPs administered in either *in vitro* or *in vivo* experimental studies remains critical to the interpretation of the outcomes. Most studies now report the characteristics of the NPs they use, including the critical surface area in terms of Brunauer-Emmett-Teller values (an algorithm describing surface area of NPs).

One aspect of NP toxicity which has received specific attention has been follow-up studies with MWCNTs to assess their comparative toxicity with asbestos in relation to induction of mesothelioma. These studies had several flaws which limit their utility in informing a HRA of MWCNTs.

The Ma-Hock (2009)<sup>97</sup> 90-d rat inhalational study recently published online (see Section 3.4.1) failed to demonstrate a NOAEL, with evidence of lung granulomatous inflammation at the lowest dose level (0.1 mg/m<sup>3</sup>). Mesothelioma was not reported among the adverse effects seen, but it may be that the duration of the study was not long enough. There were also issues around whether the equipment used to generate respirable MWCNT dusts reflect exposure conditions likely to be encountered in the workplace. Evidence of minimal-moderate lympho-reticulocellular hyperplasia in the mediastinal lymph nodes of most HD rats (but not LD) suggests translocation of the MWCNTs via lymph. Furthermore, there was suggestive evidence (but not confirmation) of intracellular penetration of submucosal epithelial cells. However, there was no descriptive evidence that the MWCNTs had reached mesothelial cells.

The Muller *et al* (2009)<sup>181</sup> 2-yr rat study (see Section 8.1.1) used only the intraperitoneal route for a single administration of two dose levels of MWCNTs. While the study methodology showed a clearly positive peritoneal mesothelioma response to asbestos (and other fibrous materials in other reports), it failed to show any mesothelioma response to MWCNTs. In direct contrast, the other study reported in Section 8.1.2 (Sakamoto *et al* 2009<sup>130</sup>) showed a paradoxical severe peritoneal mesothelioma response to MWCNTs instilled in the scrotal sac of rats, but failed to show a similar response to asbestos.

The conclusion at this time must be that the jury is still out on mesothelioma potential for MWCNTs.

### 12.1 Additional data gaps and further knowledge requirements

The Wijnhoven (2009)<sup>41</sup> review of nanosilver made attempts to outline the knowledge gaps critical to further understanding of the health risks of nanosilver. The review addressed the theories and studies which propose that much of the mammalian toxicity of nanosilver (as opposed to antibacterial effects) may be attributable to the release of soluble silver ions. Since human exposures to nanosilver can include its use for therapeutic purposes, there are likely to be significant sources of human data which can be used to complement animal and *in vitro* tests and assist with their interpretation.

The Hussain & Schlager (2009)<sup>103</sup> editorial on the significance of a rat inhalational toxicity study with nanosilver which demonstrated a clear NOAEL outlined the next steps to developing an occupational exposure standard – namely the benchmarking of lung nanosilver deposition levels in the rat model against intakes levels and measurement of actual workplace exposure levels.

In this context, the approach taken by Park *et al* (2008)<sup>106</sup> (see Section 4.2.1 and above discussion) to use a combination of *in vitro* toxicity data, exposure estimates and conversion to human equivalent lung NP burden estimates, may be useful in addressing worker HRAs for other NPs.

### 12.2 Data gaps identified by NICNAS

The following specific issues were nominated by NICNAS as requiring attention in this report:

• Chronic inhalation toxicity studies of these six nanomaterials;

These have been addressed in Section 3 of this report.

• Dermal absorption/penetration information on these six nanomaterials;

The information on dermal penetration through healthy skin is still quite limited. The scant information relating to  $TiO_2$ , fullerenes and nanosilver is summarized in Section 6 of this report

• Potential structure activity relationships that govern dermal penetration of nano particles;

No studies were identified which could shed light on SARs which may determine skin absorption. Only one study with fullerenes attempted to show how surface structural modification could alter cytotoxicity potential (discussed in Section 11.2 of this report).

• How modified surface properties of fullerene, zinc oxide and titanium oxide affect penetration through membranes/skin;

This is essentially the same point as above, and the available information is equally deficient. However, the review article by Nel *et al* (2009)<sup>6</sup> includes some useful detail on the types of SAR which can modify cell surfaces and alter biological interactions, including toxicity modification (see Section 2)

• Any worker exposure data on these six nanomaterials;

Some limited information on worker exposure to  $nanoTiO_2$  and nanosilver was identified, and discussed in Section 7. In addition, this Section notes the recent report of significant toxicity (include death) in Chinese workers allegedly

exposed to NPs. This Chinese report has attracted media attention because it highlights the human toxicity potential of NPs when attention to proper industrial hygiene practices is less than rigorous.

• Following information on CNTs: systemic distribution after inhalation, chronic repeat dose studies using any relevant human exposure route (oral, dermal or inhalation), 'Peritoneal fibre' screening assay for single walled CNTs with fibre properties;

Most of the useful studies on CNTs have been limited to those with MWCNTs. Only two single dose *in vivo* studies using SWCNTs were identified (see Section 4.3.1). The inhalational and other repeated-dose toxicity studies with MWCNTs have been discussed in Sections 3.4.1 and 8. While these studies focused primarily on the potential for MWCNTs to induce mesothelioma, in comparison with asbestos, they really only demonstrated pathogenic precursors to mesothelioma, primarily because the studies were of relatively short exposure duration.

• Any studies addressing whether fibre like CNTs when inhaled can reach mesothelial lining;

See Section 3.4.1 and discussion in Section 12. It remains to be determined whether CNT fibres can reach the mesothelial lining of lungs after inhalation. In any case, the literature surveyed in this report only refers to studies with MWCNTs,

• Dose response analysis of non-functional CNTs - NOAEL established;

The one mid-term (90d) inhalational study conducted with MWCNTs described in Section 3.4.1 failed to demonstrate a NOAEL. A 14d inhalational study (Section 3.4.1) did demonstrate a NOAEL at 0.3 mg/m<sup>3</sup>. However, taken together, these studies have a limited capacity to inform a HRA for CNTs.

• Accumulation of nano particles in organs after exposure via oral, dermal or inhalation route;

This is quite a critical factor, especially if there is to be a bridge between toxicity outcomes in *in vitro* studies and prediction of target tissue doses which might inform HRA. Unfortunately, there are still few studies where meaningful data on tissue concentrations are reported. In most cases, the objective is simply to demonstrate that extracellular (or preferably intracellular) accumulation can occur from the chosen route of exposure.

Because of earlier concerns (mainly raised by Oberdorster's group) that NPs can cross the blood-brain barrier under some circumstances, and induce neurotoxic responses, there has been some attention to this toxic outcome (see Sections 9.1 and 10.1). While there have been some studies addressing the potential neurotoxicity of metal oxides and nanosilver in the past 20 months, the issue of NP-induced neurotoxicity remains unresolved.

• Whether poorly soluble nanomaterials behave differently to other insoluble fine particles with respect to causing DNA damage;

This may be answered indirectly by reference to the studies described in Sections 11.1 and 11.2. Solubilisation of hydrophobic NPs can modify cytotoxicity, but it appears the direction of change is not easily predictable. The one fact which seems to stand out is that genotoxicity appears to be directly related to the ability of the NP to induce ROS formation.

• Studies on interactions between nanoparticles and allergens;

Findings that MWCNTs exacerbate pulmonary responses in an allergic asthma model (see Section 4.3) suggest this is a finding which should be followed up with other NPs.

• Any toxicological/health information on nano cerium oxide and nano zinc oxide.

There were relatively few *in vivo* studies found with either of these NPs, but they continue to be NPs studied more extensively in *in vitro* systems (see Sections 4.1, 4.2, 5.1 and 5.2). The use of *in vitro* tests to inform a HRA for CeO used as a diesel fuel additive has been described in more detail in Section 4.2.1.

# 13. References

The literature search identified some 264 relevant papers, most of which have been discussed in this report.

- 1. Ostrowski AD, Martin T, Conti J, Hurt I, Harthorn BH (2009). Nanotoxicology: characterizing the scientific literature, 2000-2007. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. 11: 251-257.
- Borm PJA, Robbins D, Haubold S, Kuhlbusch T, Fissan H, Donaldson K, Schins R, Stone V, Kreyling W, Lademann J, Krutmann J, Warheit D Oberdorster E (2006). The potential risks of nanomaterials: a review carried out for ECETOC. Particle and Fibre Toxicology. 14 Aug; 3:11.
- Card JW, Zeldin DC, Bonner JC, Nestmann ER (2008). Pulmonary applications and toxicity of engineered nanoparticles. American Journal of Physiology: Lung Cell Molecular Physiology. 295: L400-411.
- 4. Dhawan A, Sharma V, Parmar D (2009). Nanomaterials: A challenge for toxicologists. Nanotoxicology. 3: 1-9
- 5. Grainger DW (2009). Nanotoxicity assessment: all small talk? Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews. 61: 419-421.
- 6. Grieger KD, Hansen SF, Baun A (2009). The known unknowns of nanomaterials: Describing and characterizing uncertainty within environmental, health and safety risks. Nanotoxicology. 3: 222-233.
- Hussain SM, Braydich-Stolle LK, Schrand AM, Murdock RC, Yu KO, Mattie DM, Schlager JJ, Terrones M (2009). Toxicity Evaluation for Safe Use of Nanomaterials: Recent Achievements and Technical Challenges. Toxicological Sciences. 108: 223–224.
- 8. Jahnen-Dechent W, Simon U (2008). Function follows form: shape complementarity and nanoparticle toxicity. Nanomedicine. 3: 601-603.
- 9. Linkov I, Steevens J, Adlakha-Hutcheon G, Bennett E, Chappell M, Colvin V, Davis JM, Davis T, Elder A, Hansen SF, Hakkinen PB, Hussain SM, Karkan D, Korenstein R, Lynch I, Metcalfe C, Ramadan AB, Satterstrom FK (2009). Emerging methods and tools for environmental risk assessment, decision-making, and policy for nanomaterials: summary of NATO Advanced Research Workshop. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. 11: 513-527.
- 10. Liu W T (2006). Nanoparticles and their biological and environmental applications. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering. 102: 1-7.
- 11. Madl AK, Pinkerton KE (2009). Health effects of inhaled engineered and incidental nanoparticles. Critical Reviews in Toxicology. 39: 629-658.
- 12. Marquis BJ, Love SA, Braun KL, Haynes CL (2009). Analytical methods to assess nanoparticle toxicity. Analyst. 134: 425 439.
- 13. Singh, N (2009). Conference Scene Nanotoxicology: Health and Environmental Impacts. Nanomedicine. 4: 385-390.
- 14. Stern ST, McNeil SE (2008). Nanotechnology Safety Concerns Revisited. Toxicological Sciences. 101: 4–21.
- 15. Stone V, Johnston H, Schins RPF (2009). Development of in vitro systems for nanotoxicology: methodological considerations. Critical Reviews in Toxicology. 39: 613-626.

- 16. Suh WH, Suslick KS, Stucky GD, Suh YH (2009). Nanotechnology, nanotoxicology, and neuroscience. Progress in Neurobiology. 87: 133-170.
- 17. Thomas T, Bahadori T, Savage N, Thomas K (2009). Moving toward exposure and risk evaluation of nanomaterials: challenges and future directions. Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology. 1: 426-433.
- 18. Warheit DB, Sayes CM, Reed KL, Swain KA (2008). Health effects related to nanoparticle exposures: Environmental, health and safety considerations for assessing hazards and risks. Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 120: 35-42.
- 19. Wiegand HJ, Kruger N, Norppa H, Carmichael N, Greim H, Vrijhof H (2009). Toxicology of engineered nanomaterials introduction. Toxicology Letters. 186: 147.
- 20. Wiesner MR, Lowry GV, Jones KL, Hochella MF, Di Giulio RT, Casman E, Bernhardt ES (2009). Decreasing uncertainties in assessing environmental exposure risk and ecological implications of nanomaterials. Environmental Science and Technology. 43: 6458-6462.
- 21. Xia T, Li N, Nel AE (2009). Potential Health Impact of Nanoparticles. Annual Review of Public Health. 30: 137-150.
- 22. Bello D, Wardle BL, Yamamoto N, deVilloria RG, Garcia EJ, Hart AJ, Ahn K, Ellenbecker MJ, Hallock M (2009). Exposure to nanoscale particles and fibers during machining of hybrid advanced composites containing carbon nanotubes. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. 11: 231-249.
- 23. Bergamaschi E (2009). Occupational exposure to nanomaterials: Present knowledge and future development. Nanotoxicology. 3: 194-201.
- 24. Castranova V (2009). The Nanotoxicology Research Program in NIOSH. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. 11: 5-13.
- 25. Hameri K, Lahde T, Hussein T, Kolvisto J, Savolainen K (2009). Facing the key workplace challenge: Assessing and preventing exposure to nanoparticles at source. Inhalation Toxicology. 21: (S1) 17-24.
- 26. Papp T, Schiffmann D, Weiss D, Castranova V Vallyathan V, Rahman Q (2008). Human health implications of nanomaterial exposure. Nanotoxicology. 2: 9-27.
- 27. Schulte PA, Schubauer-Berigan MK, Mayweather C, Geraci CL, Zumwalde R, McKernan JL (2009). Issues in the Development of Epidemiologic Studies of Workers Exposed to Engineered Nanoparticles. Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine. 51: 323-335.
- 28. Shaffer RE, Rengsamy S (2009). Respiratory protection against airborne nanoparticles: a review. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. 11: 1661-1672.
- 29. Aillon KL, Xie Y, El-Gendy N, Berkland CJ, Forrest ML (2009). Effects of nanomaterial physicochemical properties on in vivo toxicity. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews. 61: 457-466.
- 30. Banaszak-Holl MM (2009). Nanotoxicology: a personal perspective. Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology. 1: 353-359.
- 31. Kaiser JP, Krug HF, Wick P (2009). Nanomaterial cell interactions: how do carbon nanotubes affect cell physiology? Nanomedicine. 4: 57-63.
- 32. Linkov I, Satterstrom K F Corey L M (2008). Nanotoxicology and nanomedicine: making hard decisions. Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology Biology and Medicine. 4: 167 171.
- 33. Stratmeyer ME, Goering PL, Hitchins VM, Umbreit TH (2008). What we know and don't know about the bioeffects of nanoparticles: developing experimental approaches for safety assessment. Biomedical Microdevices. Online Dec 4 DOI:10.1007/s10544-008-9261-9.

- 34. Hussain MA, Kabir MA, Sood AK (2009). On the cytotoxicity of carbon nanotubes. Current Science. 96: 664-673.
- 35. Shvedova AA, Kisin ER, Porter D, Schulte P, Kagan VE, Fadeel B, Castranova V (2009). Mechanisms of pulmonary toxicity and medical applications of carbon nanotubes: Two faces of Janus? Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 121: 192–204.
- 36. Silva, GA (2009). Nanomedicine: Shorting neurons with nanotubes. Nature Nanotechnology. 4; 82-83.
- 37. Tejral G, Panyala N R, Havel J (2009). Carbon nanotubes: toxicological impact on human health and environment. Journal of Applied Biomedicine. 7: 1–13.
- 38. Yu Y, Zhang Q, Mu Q, Zhang B, Yan B (2008). Exploring the Immunotoxicity of Carbon Nanotubes. Nanoscale Research Letters. 3: 271-277.
- 39. Lubick N (2008). Nanosilver toxicity: ions, nanoparticles or both? Environmental Science and Technology. 42: 8617.
- 40. Panyala NR, Pena-Mendez EM, Havel J (2008). Silver or silver nanoparticles: a hazardous threat to the environment and human health? Journal of Applied Biomedicine. 6: 117-129.
- 41. Wijnhoven SWP, Peijnenburg WJGM, Herberts CA, Hagens WI, Oomen AG, Heugens EHW, Roszek B, Bisschops J, Gosens I, van de Meent D, Dekkers S, de Jong W, van Zijverden M, Sips AJAM, Geertsma RE (2009). Nano-silver a review of available data and knowledge gaps in human and environmental risk assessment. Nanotoxicology. 3: 109-138.
- 42. Das M, Saxena N, Dwivedi PD (2009). Emerging trends of nanoparticles application in food technology: Safety paradigms. Nanotoxicology. 3: 10-18.
- 43. Choi JY, Ramachandran G, Kandlikar M (2009). The Impact of Toxicity Testing Costs on Nanomaterial Regulation. Environmental Sciience and Technology. 43: 3030-3034.
- 44. Corley EA, Scheufele DA, Hu Q (2009). Of risks and regulations: how leading U.S. nanoscientists form policy stances about nanotechnology. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. 11: 1573-1585.
- 45. Powell M C, Griffin M P A, Tai S (2009). Bottom-Up Risk Regulation? How Nanotechnology Risk Knowledge Gaps Challenge Federal and State Environmental Agencies. Environmental Management. 42: 426-443.
- 46. Stemp-Morlock G (2009). What Lies Ahead for Nanotechnology? Environmental Health Perspectives. 117: A146.
- Zolnik BS, Sadrieh N (2009). Regulatory perspective on the importance of ADME assessment of nanoscale material containing drugs. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews. 61: 422-427.
- 48. Elder A, Vidyasagar S, DeLouise L (2009). Physicochemical factors that affect metal and metal oxide nanoparticle passage across epithelial barriers. Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology. 1: 434-450.
- 49. Monteiro-Riviere NA, Riviere JE (2009). Interaction of nanomaterials with skin: Aspects of absorption and biodistribution. Nanotoxicology. 3: 188-193.
- 50. Nohynek GJ, Dufour EK, Roberts MS (2008). Nanotechnology, cosmetics and the skin: is there a health risk? Skin Pharmacology and Physiology. 21: 136-149.
- 51. Currell SC (2009). New insights into public perceptions. Nature Nanotechnology. 4; 79-80.
- 52. Pidgeon N, Harthorn BH, Bryant K, Rogers-Hayden T (2009). Deliberating the risks of nanotechnologies for energy and health applications in the United States and United Kingdom. Nature Nanotechnology. 4: 95 98.

- 53. Genaidy A, Tolaymat T, Sequeira R, Rinder M, Dionysiou D (2009). Health effects of exposure to carbon nanofibers: Systematic review, critical appraisal, meta analysis and research to practice perspectives. Science of The Total Environment. 407: 3686-3701.
- 54. Tervonen T, Linkov I, Figueira JR, Steevens J, Chappell M, Merad M (2009). Risk-based classification system of nanomaterials. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. 11: 757-766.
- 55. Mailander V, Landfester K (2009). Interaction of Nanoparticles with Cells. Biomacromolecules. 10(9): 2379–2400.
- 56. Nel AE, Madler L, Velegol D, Xia T, Hoek EMV, Somasundaran P, Klaessig F, Castranova V, Thompson M (2009). Understanding biophysicochemical interactions at the nano-bio interface. Nature Materials. 8: 543-557.
- 57. Simeonova PP, Erdely A (2009). Engineered nanoparticle respiratory exposure and potential risks for cardiovascular toxicity: Predictive test and biomarkers. Inhalation Toxicology. 21: (S1) 68-73.
- 58. Apopa PL, Qian Y, Shao R, Guo NL, Schwegler-Berry D, Pacurari M, Porter D, Shi X, Vallyathan V, Castranova V, Flynn DC (2009). Iron oxide nanoparticles induce human microvascular endothelial cell permeability through reactive oxygen species production and microtubule remodeling. Particle and Fibre Toxicology. Jan 9;6:1.
- 59. Auffan M, Rose J, Wiesner MR, Bottero JY, Lowry GV, Jolivet J-P (2009). Towards a definition of inorganic nanoparticles from an environmental, health and safety perspective. Nature Nanotechnology. 4: 634 641.
- 60. Auffan M, Rose J, Wiesner MR, Bottero JY (2009). Chemical stability of metallic nanoparticles: a parameter controlling their potential cellular toxicity in vitro. Environmental Pollution. 157:1127-1133.
- Aust W, Daum, N, Bloching M, Armbrüster V, Jung E, Sprau C, Müller M, Boehm A, Mozet C, Wichmann G, Dietz A (2009). Risk of Nanoparticles? Laryngo-Rhino-Otology. 88: 162-166.
- 62. Bello D, Hsieh SF, Schmidt D, Rogers E (2009). Nanomaterials properties vs. biological oxidative damage: Implications for toxicity screening and exposure assessment. Nanotoxicology. 3: 249-261.
- 63. Dobrovolskaia MA, Germolec DR & Weaver JL (2009). Evaluation of nanoparticle immunotoxicity. Nature Nanotechnology. 4; 411 414.
- 64. Dwivedi PD, Misra A, Shanker R, Das M (2009). Are nanomaterials a threat to the immune system? Nanotoxicology. 3: 19-26.
- 65. Elder A (2009). Nanotoxicology: How do nanotubes suppress T cells? Nature Nanotechnology. 4; 409-410.
- 66. Brain JD, Curran MA, Donaghey T, Molina RM (2009). Biologic responses to nanomaterials depend on exposure, clearance, and material characteristics. Nanotoxicology. 3: 174-180.
- Doak SH, Griffiths SM, Manshian B, Singh N, Williams PM, Brown AP, Jenkins GJS (2009). Confounding experimental considerations in nanogenotoxicology. Mutagenesis. 24: 285-293.
- Singh N, Manshian B, Jenkins GJS, Griffiths SM, Williams PM, Maffeis TGG, Wright CJ, Doak SH (2009). NanoGenotoxicology: The DNA damaging potential of engineered nanomaterials. Biomaterials. 30: 3891-3914.
- Frohlich E, Samberger C, Keuznik T, Absenger M, Roblegg E, Zimmer A, Pieber TR (2009). Cytotoxicity of nanoparticles independent from oxidative stress. Journal of Toxicological Sciences. 34: 363-375.

- 70. Haniu H, Matsuda Y, Takeuchi K (2009). Potential of a Novel Safety Evaluation of Nanomaterials Using a Proteomic Approach. Journal of Health Sciences. 55: 428-434.
- 71. Erdely A, Hulderman T, Salmen R, Liston A, Zeidler-Erdely PC, Schwegler-Berry D, Castranova V, Koyama S, Kim YA, Endo M, Simeonova PP (2009). Cross-Talk between Lung and Systemic Circulation during Carbon Nanotube Respiratory Exposure. Potential Biomarkers. Nano Letters. 9: 36–43.
- 72. Jacobsen NR, Moller P, Jensen KA, Vogel U, Ladefoged O, Loft S, Wallin H (2009). Lung inflammation and genotoxicity following pulmonary exposure to nanoparticles in ApoE-/-mice. Particle and Fibre Toxicology. 6: 2.
- 73. Vesterdal LK, Folkmann JK, Jacobsen NR, Sheykhzade M, Wallin H, Loft S, Moller P (2009). Modest vasomotor dysfunction induced by low doses of C60 fullerenes in apolipoprotein E knockout mice with different degree of atherosclerosis. Particle and Fibre Toxicology. 6: 5.
- 74. Sager TM, Castranova V (2009). Surface area of particle administered versus mass in determining the pulmonary toxicity of ultrafine and fine carbon black: comparison to ultrafine titanium dioxide. Particle and Fibre Toxicology. 6:15.
- 75. Sager TM, Kommineni C, Castranova V (2008). Pulmonary response to intratracheal instillation of ultrafine versus fine titanium dioxide: role of particle surface area. Particle and Fibre Toxicology. 5:17.
- 76. Gul MO, Jones SA, Dailey LA, Nacer H, Ma Y, Sadouki F, Hider R, Araman A, Forbes B (2009). A poly(vinyl alcohol) nanoparticle platform for kinetic studies of inhaled particles. Inhalational Toxicology. 21: 631-640.
- 77. Cheng C, Muller KH, Koziol KKK, Skepper JN, Midgely PA, Welland ME, Porter AE (2009). Toxicity and imaging of multi-walled carbon nanotubes in human macrophage cells. Biomaterials. 30: 4152-4160.
- 78. Elgrabli D, Floriani M, Abella-Gallart S, Meunier L, Gamez C, Delalain P, Rogerieux F, Boczkowski J, Lacroix G (2008). Biodistribution and clearance of instilled carbon nanotubes in rat lung. Particle and Fibre Toxicology. 5:20.
- 79. Pauluhn J (2009). Comparative pulmonary response to inhaled nanostructures: considerations on test design and endpoints. Inhalational Toxicology. 21: (S1) 40-54.
- 80. Baveye P, Laba M (2008). Aggregation and toxicology of titanium dioxide nanoparticles. Environmental Health Perspectives. 116(4): A152.
- Elgrabli D, Abella-Gallart S, Robidel F, Rogerieux F, Boczkowski J, Lacroix G (2008). Induction of apoptosis and absence of inflammation in rat lung after intratracheal instillation of multiwalled carbon nanotubes. Toxicology. 253: 131-136.
- 82. Tabet L, Bussy C, Amara N, Setyan A, Grodet A, Rossi MJ, Pairon JC, Boczkowski J, Lanone S (2009). Adverse Effects of Industrial Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes on Human Pulmonary Cells. Journal of Toxiclogy and Environmental Health, Part A. 72(2): 60-73.
- 83. Warheit DB, Reed KL, Sayes CM (2009). A role for surface reactivity in facilitating pulmonary toxicity and development of a base set of hazards as a component of nanoparticle risk management. Inhalation Toxicology. 21(S1):61-67.
- 84. Kroll A, Pillukat MH, Hahn D, Schnekenburger J (2009). Current in vitro methods in nanoparticle risk assessment: Limitations and challenges. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics. 72: 370-377.
- 85. Park MVDZ, Lankveld DPK, van Loveren H, de Jong WH (2009). The status of in vitro toxicity studies in the risk assessment of nanomaterials. Nanomedicine. 4: 669-685.

- 86. Sayes CM, Reed KL, Subramoney S, Abrams L, Warheit DB (2009). Can in vitro assays substitute for in vivo studies in assessing the pulmonary hazards of fine and nanoscale materials? Journal of Nanoparticle Research. 11: 421-431.
- 87. Warheit DB, Sayes CM, Reed KL (2009). Nanoscale and fine zinc oxide particles: Can in vitro assays accurately forecast lung hazards following inhalation exposures? Environmental Science and Technology. 43: 7939-7945.
- 88. Meng H, Xia T, George S, Nel AE (2009). A predictive toxicological paradigm for the safety assessment of nanomaterials. ACS Nano. 3: 1620-1627.
- Lu S, Duffin R, Poland C, Daly C, Murphy F, Drost E, Macnee W, Stone V, Donaldson K (2009). Efficacy of Simple Short-Term in Vitro Assays for Predicting the Potential of Metal Oxide Nanoparticles to Cause Pulmonary Inflammation. Environmental Health Perspectives. 117: 241–247.
- 90. Donaldson K, Borm PJA, Castranova V, Gulumian M (2009). The limits of testing particlemediated oxidative stress in vitro in predicting diverse pathologies; relevance for testing of nanoparticles. Particle and Fibre Toxicology. 6:13.
- 91. Walker NJ, Bucher JR (2009). Forum series Part V: A 21st Century paradigm for evaluating the health hazards of nanoscale materials? Toxicological Sciences. 110: 251-254.
- 92. Poland CA, Duffin R, Kinloch I, Maynard A, Wallace WAH, Seaton A, Stone V, Brown S, MacNee W, Donaldson K (2008). Carbon nanotubes introduced into the abdominal cavity of mice show asbestos-like pathogenicity in a pilot study. Nature Nanotechnology. 3: 423-428.
- 93. Roller M (2009). Carcinogenicity of inhaled nanoparticles. Inhalation Toxicology. 21(S1): 144-157.
- 94. Van Ravenzwaay B, Landsiedel R, Fabian E, Burkhardt S, Strauss V, Ma-Hock L (2009). Comparing fate and effects of three particles of different surface properties: Nano-TiO<sub>2</sub>, pigmentary TiO<sub>2</sub> and quartz. Toxicology Letters. 186: 152-159.
- 95. Ma-Hock L, Burkhardt S, Strauss V, Gamer AO, Wiench K, van Ravenzwaay B, Landsiedel R (2009). Development of a Short-Term Inhalation Test in the Rat Using Nano-Titanium Dioxide as a Model Substance. Inhalation Toxicology. 21: 102-118.
- 96. Park EJ, Yoon J, Choi K, Yi J, Park K (2009). Induction of chronic inflammation in mice treated with titanium dioxide nanoparticles by intratracheal installation. Toxicology. 260: 37-46.
- 97. Ma-Hock L, Treumann S, Strauss V, Brill S, Luizi F, Mertler M, Wiench K, Garner AO, van Ravenzwaay B, Landsiel R (2009). Inhalational toxicity of multi-walled carbon nanotubes in rats exposed for 3 months. Toxicological Sciences. 112: 468-481.
- 98. Li JG, Li QN, Xu JY, Cai XQ, Liu RL, Li YJ, Ma JF, Li WX (2009). The pulmonary toxicity of multi-wall carbon nanotubes in mice 30 and 60 days after inhalation exposure. Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology. 9(2):1384-1387.
- 99. Mitchell LA, Lauer FT, Burchiel SW, McDonald JD (2009). Mechanisms for how inhaled multiwalled carbon nanotubes suppress systemic immune function in mice. Nature Nanotechnology. 4: 451-456.
- 100. Fujita K, Morimoto Y, Ogami A, Myojyo T, Tanaka I, Shimada M, Wang WN, Endoh S, Uchida K, Nakazato T, Yamamoto K, Fukui H, Horie M, Yoshida Y, Iwahashi H, Nakanishi J (2009). Gene expression profiles in rat lung after inhalation exposure to C60 fullerene particles. Toxicology. 258: 47-55.
- 101. Lee HY, Choi YJ, Jung EJ, Yin HQ, Kwon JT, Kim JE, Im HT, Cho MH, Kim JH, Kim HY, Lee BH (2009). Genomics-based screening of differentially expressed genes in the brains of mice exposed to silver nanoparticles via inhalation. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. DOI: 10.1007/s11051-009-9666-2 published online 14 June 2009.

- 102. Sung JH, Ji JH, Park JD, Yoon JU, Kim DS, Jeon KS, Song MY, Jeong J, Han BS, Han JH, Chung YH, Chang HK, Lee JH, Cho MH, Kelman BJ, Yu IJ (2009). Subchronic Inhalation Toxicity of Silver Nanoparticles. Toxicological Sciences. 108: 452-461.
- 103. Hussain SM, Schlager JJ (2009). Safety Evaluation of Silver Nanoparticles: Inhalation Model for Chronic Exposure. Toxicological Sciences. 108: 223–224.
- 104. Jones CF, Grainger DW (2009). In vitro assessments of nanomaterial toxicity. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews. 61: 438-456.
- 105. Horie M, Nishio K, Fujita K, Endoh S, Miyauchi A, Saito Y, Iwahashi H, Yamamoto K, Murayama H, Nakano H, Nanashima N, Niki E, Yoshida Y (2009). Protein Adsorption of Ultrafine Metal Oxide and Its Influence on Cytotoxicity toward Cultured Cells. Chemistry Research in Toxicology. 22: 543–553.
- 106. Park B, Donaldson K, Duffin R, Tian L, Kelly F, Mudway I, Morin J-P, Guest P, Jenkinson P, Samaras Z, Giannouli M, Kouridis H, Martin P (2008). Hazard and Risk Assessment of a Nanoparticulate Cerium Oxide-Based Diesel Fuel Additive—A Case Study. Inhalation Toxicology. 20:547–566.
- 107. Aisaka Y, Kawaguchi R, Watanabe S, Ikeda M, Igisu H (2008). Haemolysis caused by titanium dioxide particles. Inhalation Toxicology. 20: 891-893.
- 108. Liang G, Pu Y, Yin L, Liu R, Ye B, Su Y, Li Y (2009). Influence of Different Sizes of Titanium Dioxide Nanoparticles on Hepatic and Renal Functions in Rats with Correlation to Oxidative Stress. Journal of Toxicological and Environmental Health, Part A. 72: 740-745.
- 109. Ma L, Zhao J, Wang J, Liu J, Duan Y, Liu H, Li N, Yan J, Ruan J, Wang H, Hong F (2009). The acute liver injury in mice caused by nano-anatase TiO<sub>2</sub>. Nanoscale Research Letters. 4(11): 1275-1285.
- 110. Wang B, Feng WY, Wang TC, Jia G, Wang M, Shi JW, Zhang F, Zhao YL, Chai ZF (2006). Acute toxicity of nano- and micro-scale zinc powder in healthy adult mice. Toxicology Letters. 161(2):115-123.
- 111. Fabian E, Landsiedel R, Ma-Hock L, Wiench K, Wohlleben W, van Ravenzwaay B (2008). Tissue distribution and toxicity of intravenously administered titanium dioxide nanoparticles in rats. Archives of Toxicology. 82: 151-157.
- 112. Chen J, Dong X, Zhao J, Tang G (2009). In vivo acute toxicity of titanium dioxide nanoparticles to mice after intraperitioneal injection. Journal of Applied Toxicology. 29: 330-337.
- 113. Hussain S, Boland S, Baeza-Squiban A, Hamel R, Thomassen L C J, Martens J A, Billon-Galland M A, Fleury-Feith J, Moisan F, Pairon J-C, Marano F (2009). Oxidative stress and proinflammatory effects of carbon black and titanium dioxide nanoparticles: Role of particle surface area and internalized amount. Toxicology. 260:142–149.
- 114. Lin W, Xu Y, Huang CC, Ma Y, Shannon KB, Chen DR, Huang YW (2009). Toxicity of nano- and micro-sized ZnO particles in human lung epithelial cells. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. 11: 25-39.
- 115. Lu N, Zhu Z, Zhao X, Tao R, Yang X, Gao Z (2008). Nano titanium dioxide photocatalytic protein tyrosine nitration: a potential hazard of TiO<sub>2</sub> on skin. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 370(4):675-80.
- 116. Park B, Martin PA, Harris C, Guest R, Whittingham A, Jenkinson P (2009). Preliminary in vitro investigation of the potential health effects of Optisol<sup>™</sup>, a nanoparticulate manganese modified titanium dioxide UV-filter used in certain sunscreen products. Nanotoxicology. 3: 73-90.

- 117. Gopalan RC, Osman IF, Amani A, DeMatas M, Anderson D (2009). The effect of zinc oxide and titanium dioxide nanoparticles in the Comet assay with UVA photoactivation of human sperm and lymphocytes. Nanotoxicology. 3: 33-39.
- 118. Theogaraj E, Riley S, Hughes L, Maier M, Kirkland D (2007). An investigation of the photoclastogenic potential of ultrafine titanium dioxide particles. Mutation Research. 634: 205-219.
- 119. Eom HJ, Choi J (2009). Oxidative stress of CeO2 nanoparticles via p38-Nrf-2 signaling pathway in human bronchial epithelial cell, Beas-2B. Toxicology Letters. 187: 77-83
- 120. Gojova A, Lee J-T, Jung HS, Guo B, Barakat AI, Kennedy IM (2009). Effect of cerium oxide nanoparticles on inflammation in vascular endothelial cells. Inhalation Toxicology. 21: 123-130.
- 121. Tong H, Mcgee JK, Saxena RK, Kodvanti UP, Devlin RB, Gilmour AI (2009); Influence of acid functionalization on the cardiopulmonary toxicity of carbon nanotubes and carbon black particles in mice. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology. 239: 224-232.
- 122. Yang ST, Wang X, Jia G, Gu Y, Wang T, Nie H, Ge C, Wang H, Liu Y (2008). Long-term accumulation and low toxicity of single-walled carbon nanotubes in intravenously exposed mice. Toxicology Letters. 181: 182-189.
- 123. Deng X, Wu F, Liu Z, Luo M, Li L, Ni Q, Jiao Z, Wu M, Liu Y (2009). The splenic toxicity of water soluble multi-walled carbon nanotubes in mice. Carbon. 47: 1421-1428.
- Murray AR, Kisin E, Leonard SS, Young SH, Kommineni C, Kagan VE, Castranova V, Shvedova AA (2009). Oxidative stress and inflammatory response in dermal toxicity of single-walled carbon nanotubes. Toxicology. 257: 161-171.
- 125. Koyama S, Kim YA, Hayashi T, Takeuchi K, Fujii C, Kuroiwa N, Koyama H, Tsukahara T, Endo M (2009). In vivo immunological toxicity in mice of carbon nanotubes with impurities. Carbon. 47: 1365-1372.
- 126. Ryman-Rasmussen JP, Tewksbury EW, Moss OR, Cesta MF, Wong BA, Bonner JC (2009). Inhaled multiwalled carbon nanotubes potentiate airway fibrosis in murine allergic asthma. American Journal of Respiratory Cell Molecular Biology. 40:349-358.
- 127. Inoue K, Koike E, Yanagisawa R, Hirano S, Nishikawa M, Takano H (2009). Effects of multi-walled carbon nanotubes on a murine allergic airway inflammation model. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology. 237:306–316.
- 128. Herzog E, Byrne HJ, Davoren M, Casey A, Duschi A, Oostingh GJ (2009). Dispersion medium modulates oxidative stress response of human lung epithelial cells upon exposure to carbon nanomaterial samples. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology. 236: 276-281.
- Witasp E, Shvedova AA, Kagan VE, Fadeel B (2009). Single-walled carbon nanotubes impair human macrophage engulfment of apoptotic cell corpses. Inhalation Toxicology. 21: (S1) 131-136.
- 130. Bardi G, Tognini P, Ciofani G, Raffa V, Costa M and Pizzorusso T (2009). Pluronic-coated carbon nanotubes do not induce degeneration of cortical neurons in vivo and in vitro. Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine. 5: 96-104.
- 131. Yamada T, Jung DY, Sawada R, Matsuoka A, Nakaoka R, Tsuchiya T (2008). Effects intracerebral microinjection and intraperitoneal injection of [60]fullerene on brain. Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology. 8:3973-3980.
- 132. Zhou Z, Lenk R, Dellinger A, MacFarland D, Kumar K, Wilson SR and Kepley CL (2009). Fullerene nanomaterials potentiate hair growth. Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine. 5: 202-207.

- 133. Zhang B, Cho M, Fortner JD, Lee J, Huang CH, Hughes JB, Kim JH (2009). Delineating Oxidative Processes of Aqueous C-60 Preparations: Role of THF Peroxide. Environmental Science and Technology. 43: 108-113.
- 134. Spohn P, Hirsch C, Hasler F, Bruinink A, Krug HF, Wick P (2009). C60 fullerene: A powerful antioxidant or a damaging agent? The importance of an in-depth material characterization prior to toxicity assays. Environmental Pollution. 157: 1134-1139.
- 135. Foldbjerg R, Oleson P, Hougaard M, Dang DA, Hoffmann HJ, Autrup H (2009). PVP-coated silver nanoparticles and silver ions induce reactive oxygen species, apoptosis and necrosis in THP-1 monocytes. Toxicology Letters. 190: 156-162.
- 136. Arora S, Jain J, Rajwade JM, Paknikar KM (2009). Interactions of silver nanoparticles with primary mouse fibroblasts and liver cells. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology. 236: 310-318.
- 137. Asharani PV, Low Kah Mun G, Hande MP, Valiyaveettil S (2009). Cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of silver nanoparticles in human cells. ACS Nano. 3: 279-290.
- 138. Eby DM, Schaeublin NM, Farrington KE, Hussain AM, Johnson GR (2009). Lysozyme Catalyzes the Formation of Antimicrobial Silver Nanoparticles. ACS Nano. 3: 984-994.
- 139. Greulich C, Kittler S, Epple M, Muhr G, Koller M (2009). Studies on the biocompatibility and the interaction of silver nanoparticles with human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs). Langenbeck's Archives of Surgery. 394: 495-502.
- Kim S, Choi JE, Choi J, Chung KH, Park K, Yi J, Ryu DY(2009). Oxidative stressdependent toxicity of silver nanoparticles in human hepatoma cells. Toxicology in Vitro. 23: 1076-1084.
- 141. Landsiedel RL, Kapp MD, Schulz M, Wiench K, Oesch F (2009). Genotoxicity investigations on nanomaterials: Methods, preparation and characterization of test material, potential artifacts and limitations—Many questions, some answers. Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research. 681: 241-258.
- 142. Yang H, Liu C, Yang D, Zhang H, Xi Z (2009). Comparative study of cytotoxicity, oxidative stress and genotoxicity induced by four typical nanomaterials: the role of particle size, shape and composition. Journal of Applied Toxicology. 29: 69-78.
- 143. Bhattacharya, K; Maria Davoren, Jens Boertz, Roel PF Schins, Eik Hoffmann and Elke Dopp (2009). Titanium dioxide nanoparticles induce oxidative stress and DNA-adduct formation but not DNA-breakage in human lung cells. Particle and Fibre Toxicology. 6:17.
- 144. Sharma V, Shukla RK, Saxena N, Parmar D, Das M, Dhawan A (2009). DNA damaging potential of zinc oxide nanoparticles in human epidermal cells. Toxicology Letters. 185(3):211-218.
- 145. Kang SJ, Kim BM, Lee YJ, Chung HW (2008). Titanium dioxide nanoparticles trigger p53mediated damage response in peripheral blood lymphocytes. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis. 49: 399-405.
- 146. Auffan M, Rose J, Orsiere T, Bottero JY, De Meo M, Thill A, Zeyons O, Proux O, Masion A, Chaurand P, Spalla O, Botta A, Wiesner MR (2009). CeO2 nanoparticles induce DNA damage towards human dermal fibroblasts in vitro. Nanotoxicology. 3: 161-171.
- 147. Di Sotto A, Chiaretti M, Carru GA, Bellucci S, Mazzanti G (2009). Multi-walled carbon nanotubes: Lack of mutagenic activity in the bacterial reverse mutation assay. Toxicology Letters. 184: 192-197.
- 148. Wirnitzer U, Herbold B, Voetz M, Ragot J (2009). Studies on the in vitro genotoxicity of baytubes®, agglomerates of engineered multi-walled carbon-nanotubes (MWCNT). Toxicology Letters. 186: 160-165.

- 149. Lindberg HK, Falck GCM, Suhonen S, Vippola M, Vanhala E, Catalan J, Savolainen K, Norppa H (2009). Genotoxicity of nanomaterials: DNA damage and micronuclei induced by carbon nanotubes and graphite nanofibres in human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro. Toxicology Letters. 186(3): 166-173.
- 150. Liang Y, Luo F, Lin Y, Zhou Q, Jiang G (2009). C60 affects DNA replication in vitro by decreasing the melting temperature of DNA templates. Carbon. 47: 1457-1465.
- 151. Song G, Yao L, Huang C, Xie X, Tan X, Yang X (2009). Inhibition of DNA restrictive endonucleases by aqueous nanoparticle suspension of methanophosphonate fullerene derivatives and its mechanisms. Science in China Series B: Chemistry. 52: 626-631.
- 152. Folkmann J K, Risom L, Jacobsen N R, Wallin H Loft S, Møller P (2009). Oxidatively Damaged DNA in Rats Exposed by Oral Gavage to C60 Fullerenes and Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes. Environmental Health Perspectives. 117:703–708.
- 153. Xu A, Chai Y, Nohmi T, Hei TK (2009). Genotoxic responses to titanium dioxide nanoparticles and fullerene in gpt delta transgenic MEF cells. Particle and Fibre Toxicology. 6:3.
- 154. Chi ZX, Liu RT, Zhao LZ, Qin PF, Pan XR, Sun F, Hao XP (2009). A new strategy to probe the genotoxicity of silver nanoparticles combined with cetylpyridine bromide. Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy. 72: 577-581.
- 155. Kezic S, Nielsen JB (2009). Absorption of chemicals through compromised skin. International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health. 82: 677-688.
- 156. Kiss B, Bíró T, Czifra G, Tóth BI, Kertész Z, Szikszai Z, Kiss AZ, Juhász I, Zouboulis CC, Hunyadi J (2008). Investigation of micronized titanium dioxide penetration in human skin xenografts and its effect on cellular functions of human skin-derived cells. Experimental Dermatology. 17: 659-667.
- 157. Kuo TR, Wu CL, Hsu CT, Lo W, Chiang SJ, Lin SJ, Dong CY, Chen CC (2009). Chemical enhancer induced changes in the mechanisms of transdermal delivery of zinc oxide nanoparticles. Biomaterials. 30(16):3002-3008.
- 158. Zvyagin AV, Zhao X, Gierden A, Sanchez W, Ross JA, Roberts MS (2008). Imaging of zinc oxide nanoparticle penetration in human skin in vitro and in vivo. Journal of Biomedical Optics. 13(6):064031.
- 159. Gontier E, Ynsa M-D, Biro T, Hunyadi J, Kiss B, Gaspar K, Pinheiro T, Silva IN, Filipe P, Stachura J, Dabros W, Reinert T, Butz T, Moretto P, Surleve-Bazeille JE (2008). Is there penetration of titania nanoparticles in sunscreens through skin? A comparative electron and ion microscopy study. Nanotoxicology. 2: 218-231.
- 160. Schulz J, Hohenberg H, Pflücker F, Gärtner E, Will T, Pfeiffer S, Wepf R, Wendel V, Gers-Barlag H, Wittern KP (2002). Distribution of sunscreens on skin. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews. 54 Suppl 1:S157-163.
- 161. Yanagisawa R, Takano H, Inoue KI, Koike E, Kamachi T, Sadakane K, Ichinose T (2009). Titanium Dioxide Nanoparticles Aggravate Atopic Dermatitis-Like Skin Lesions in NC/Nga Mice. Experimental Biology and Medicine 234: 314-322.
- 162. Wu J, Liu W, Xue C, Zhou S, Lan F, Bi L, Xu H, Yang X, Zeng FD (2009). Toxicity and penetration of TiO(2) nanoparticles in hairless mice and porcine skin after subchronic dermal exposure. Toxicology Letters. 191(1):1-8.
- 163. Kato S, Aoshima H, Saitoh Y, Miwa N (2009). Biological Safety of LipoFullerene composed of Squalane and Fullerene-C60 upon Mutagenesis, Photocytotoxicity, and Permeability into the Human Skin Tissue. Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology. 104: 483-487.

- 164. Larese FF, D'Agostin F, Crosera M, Adami G, Renzi N, Bovenzi M, Maina G (2009). Human skin penetration of silver nanoparticles through intact and damaged skin. Toxicology. 255(1-2):33-37.
- 165. Ono-Ogasawara M, Serita F, Takaya M (2009). Distinguishing nanomaterial particles from background airborne particulate matter for quantitative expsoure assessment. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. 11:1651–1659.
- 166. Peters TM, Elzey S, Johnson R, Park H, Grassian VH, Maher T, O'Shaughnessy P (2009). Airborne Monitoring to Distinguish Engineered Nanomaterials from Incidental Particles for Environmental Health and Safety. Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene. 6: 73-81.
- 167. Plitzko S (2009). Workplace exposure to engineered nanoparticles. Inhalation Toxicology. 21: (S1) 25-29.
- Liao CM, Chiang YH, Chio CP (2009). Assessing the airborne titanium dioxide nanoparticle-related exposure hazard at workplace. Journal of Hazardous Materials. 161: 57-65.
- 169. Liao CM, Chiang YH, Chio CP (2008). Model-based assessment for human inhalation exposure risk to airborne nano/fine titanium dioxide particles. Science of the Total Environment. 407: 165-177.
- 170. Robichaud CO, Uyar AE, Darby MR, Zucker LG, Wiesner MR. Estimates of Upper Bounds and Trends in Nano-TiO<sub>2</sub> Production As a Basis for Exposure Assessment. Environmental Science and Technology. 43: 4227–4233.
- 171. Tantra R, Cumpson P (2007). The detection of airborne carbon nanotubes in relation to toxicology and workplace safety. Nanotoxicology. 1(4): 251 265.
- 172. Tsai SJ, Hofmann M, Hallock M, Ada E, Kong J, Ellenbecker M (2009). Characterization and Evaluation of Nanoparticle Release during the Synthesis of Single-Walled and Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes by Chemical Vapor Deposition. Environmental Science and Technology. 43(15): 6017–6023.
- 173. Park J, Kwak BK, Bae E, Lee J, Kim Y, Choi K, Yi J (2009). Characterization of exposure to silver nanoparticles in a manufacturing facility. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. 11:1705–1712.
- 174. Tsai SJ, Ada E, Isaacs JA, Ellenbecker MJ (2009). Airborne nanoparticle exposures associated with the manual handling of nanoalumina and nanosilver in fume hoods. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. 11: 147-161
- 175. Song Y, Li X, Du X (2009). Exposure to nanoparticles is related to pleural effusion, pulmonary fibrosis and granuloma. European Respiratory Journal. 34: 559-567.
- 176. Anonymous (2009). Recommended reading: Lack of progress in nanotoxicology has been highlighted by a tragic accident in China. Nature Nanotechnology. 4: 533.
- 177. Jaurand M-C, Renier A, Daubriac J (2009). Mesothelioma: Do asbestos and carbon nanotubes pose the same health risk? Particle Fibre Toxicology. 6: 16.
- 178. Kostarelos K (2008). The long and short of carbon nanotube toxicity. Nature Biotechnology. 26(7):774-6.
- 179. Sanchez VC, Pietruska JR, Miselis NR, Hurt RH, Kane AB (2009). Biopersistence and potential adverse health impacts of fibrous nanomaterials: What have we learned from asbestos. Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology. 1: 511-529.
- 180. Muller J, Delos M, Panin N, Rabolli V, Huaux F, Lison D (2009). Absence of carcinogenic response to multiwall carbon nanotubes in a 2-year bioassay in the peritoneal cavity of the rat. Toxicological Sciences. 110: 442-448.

- 181. Sakamoto Y, Nakae D, Fukumori N, Tayama K, Maekawa A, Imai K, Hirose A, Nishimura T, Ohashi N, Ogata A (2009). Induction of mesothelioma by a single intrascrotal administration of multi-wall carbon nanotube in intact male Fischer 344 rats. Journal of Toxicological Sciences. 34: 65-76.
- 182. Xu H, Bai J, Meng J, Hao W, Xu H and Cao J-M (2009). Multi-walled carbon nanotubes suppress potassium channel activities in PC12 cells. Nanotechnology. 20: 285102
- Belluci S, Chiaretti M, Cucina A, Carru GA, Chiaretti AI (2009). Multiwalled carbon nanotube buckypaper: toxicology and biological effects in vitro and in vivo. Nanomedicine. 4(5): 531-540.
- 184. Oberdörster G, Elder A, Rinderknecht A (2009) Nanoparticles and the Brain: Cause for Concern? Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, Volume 9, Number 8, August 2009 , pp. 4996-5007(12).
- 185. Shimizu M, Tainaka H, Oba T, Mizuo K, Umezawa M, Takeda K (2009). Maternal exposure to nanparticulate titanium dioxide during the prenatal period alters gene expression related to brain development in the mouse. Particle Fibre Toxicology. 6: 20.
- 186. Takeda K, Suzuki K-I, Ishihara A, Kubo-Irie M, Fujimoto R, Tabata M, Oshio S, Nihei Y, Ihara T and Sugamata M (2009). Nanoparticles transferred from pregnant mice to their offspring can damage the genital and cranial nerve systems. Journal of Health Science. 55(1):95-102.
- 187. Wang J, Chen C, Liu Y, Jiao F, Li W, Lao F, Li Y, Li B, Ge C, Zhou G, Gao Y, Zhao Y, Chai Z (2008). Potential neurological lesion after nasal instillation of TiO(2) nanoparticles in the anatase and rutile crystal phases. Toxicology Letters. 183: 72-80.
- 188. Wang J, Liu Y, Jiao F, Lao F, Li W, Gu Y, Li Y, Ge C, Zhou G, Li B, Zhao Y, Chai Z, Chen C (2008). Time-dependent translocation and potential impairment on central nervous system by intranasally instilled TiO(2) nanoparticles. Toxicology. 254(1-2):82-90.
- 189. Braydich-Stolle LK, Schaeublin NM, Murdock RC, Jiang J, Biswas P, Schlager JJ, Hussain SM (2009). Crystal structure mediates mode of cell death in TiO<sub>2</sub> nanotoxicity. Journal of Nanoparticle Research. 6: 1361-1374.
- 190. Long TC, Saleh N, Tilton RD, Lowry GV, Veronesi B (2006). Titanium dioxide (p25) produces reactive oxygen species in immortalized brain microglia (Bv2): implications for nanoparticle neurotoxicity. Environmental Science and Technology. 40: 4346-4352.
- 191. Deng X, Luan Q, Chen W, Wang Y, Wu M, Zhang H, Jiao Z (2009). Nanosized zinc oxide particles induce neural stem cell apoptosis. Nanotechnology. 20: 115101.
- 192. D'Angelo B, Santucci S, Benedetti E, Di Loreto S, Phani, RA, Falone S, Amicarelli F, Ceru MP, Cimini A (2009). Cerium Oxide Nanoparticles Trigger Neuronal Survival in a Human Alzheimer Disease Model By Modulating BDNF Pathway. Current Nanoscience. 5: 167-176.
- 193. Lotti M, Olivato I, Bergamo L (2009). Inflammation and short-term cardiopulmonary effects of particulate matter. Nanotoxicology. 3: 27-32.
- 194. Sharma, Hari S.; Ali, Syed F.; Hussain, Saber M.; Schlager, John J.; Sharma, Aruna (2009). Influence of Engineered Nanoparticles from Metals on the Blood-Brain Barrier Permeability, Cerebral Blood Flow, Brain Edema and Neurotoxicity. An Experimental Study in the Rat and Mice Using Biochemical and Morphological Approaches. Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology. 9: 5055-5072.
- Karlsson HL, Gustafsson J, Cronholm P, Moller L (2009). Size-dependent toxicity of metal oxide particles - A comparison between nano- and micrometer size. Toxicology Letters. 188: 112-118.

- 196. Jiang W, Betty Y. S. Kim, James T. Rutka & Warren C. W. Chan (2008). Nanoparticlemediated cellular response is size-dependent. Nature Nanotechnology. 3:145-150.
- 197. Travan A, Pelillo C, Donati I, Marsich E, Benincasa M, Scarpa T, Semeraro S, Turco G, Gennaro R, Paoletti S (2009). Non-cytotoxic Silver Nanoparticle-Polysaccharide Nanocomposites with Antimicrobial Activity. Biomacromolecules. 10: 1429–1435.
- 198. Chang X, Vikesland PJ (2009). Effects of carboxylic acids on nC60 aggregate formation. Environmental Pollution. 157: 1072-1080.
- 199. Lao F, Li W, Han D, Qu Y, Liu Y, Zhao Y and Chen C (2009). Fullerene derivatives protect endothelial cells against NO-induced damage. Nanotechnology. 20: 225103.
- 200. Misirkic MS, Todorovic-Markovic BM, Vucicevic LM, Janjetovic KD, Jokanovic VR, Dramicanin MD, Markovic ZM, Trajkovic VS (2009). The protection of cells from nitric oxidemediated apoptotic death by mechanochemically synthesized fullerene (C60) nanoparticles. Biomaterials. 30: 2319-2328.
- 201. Martin R, Wang HL, Gao J, Iyer S, Montano GA, Martinez J, Shreve AP, Bao Y, Wang CC, Chang Z, Gao Y, Iyer R (2009). Impact of physicochemical properties of engineered fullerenes on key biological responses. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology. 234: 58-67.
- 202. Lucente-Schulz RM, Moore VC, Leonard AD, Price BK, Kosynkin DV, Lu M, Partha R, Conyers JL, Tour JM (2009). Antioxidant Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes. Journal of the American Chemical Society. 131: 3934-3941.
- 203. Shen M, Wang SH, Shi X, Chen X, Huang Q, Petersen EJ, Pinto RA, Baker JR, Weber WJ (2009). Polyethyleneimine-Mediated Functionalization of Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes: Synthesis, Characterization, and In Vitro Toxicity Assay. Journal of Physical Chemistry C. 113: 3150–3156.
- 204. Riviere J (2009). Pharmacokinetics of nanomaterials: an overview of carbon nanotubes, fullerenes and quantum dots. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology. 1: 26–34.